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ASX APPENDIX 4E 

FINANCIAL REPORT TO 30 JUNE 2025 
 

1. Details of reporting period:  
 

Name of Entity Vysarn Limited (“the Company”) 

ABN 41 124 212 175 

Reporting Period 30 June 2025 

Previous Corresponding Period 30 June 2024 
 

 

2. Results for announcement to the market  
 

 

12 Months 
ended 

30 June 2025 

$ 

12 Months 
ended 

30 June 2024 

$ 

Increase  

% 

Amount  
Change 

$ 

Revenues 106,526,209 75,885,416 40% 30,640,793 

Profit / (loss) before income 
tax 

15,028,343 11,060,394 36% 3,967,949 

Profit / (loss) after tax 
attributable to members 

10,693,410 7,960,510 34% 2,732,900 

 

Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025 for further commentary. 

 

Div idend / distributions  

Amount  
per  

secur ity 
(cents)  

Franked 
amount  

per  
secur ity 

(cents)  

Amount  

$ 

Amount per 
secur ity of 

fore ign 
sourced 
dividend 

(cents)  

Record 

date 

Date 
pa id / 

payable 

Final dividend – current year Nil Nil Nil Nil N/A N/A 

Final dividend – previous 
year  

Nil Nil Nil Nil N/A N/A 

 

3. Statement of comprehensive income 
 Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

4. Statement of f inancial  position  
 Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

5. Statement of cash f lows  
 Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 
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6. Div idend reinvestment plans  
 Not applicable. 

 

7. Statement of changes in equity  
 Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

8. Net tangible assets per security  

 
30 June 2025 

(cents)  
30 June 2024 

(cents)  

Net tangible assets per ordinary security 0.1036 0.0922 

 

9. Gain or loss of control  over entities  
 Not applicable.   

 
10. Associates and jo int ventures  
 Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

 
11. Other s ignif icant information  
 Not applicable. 

 

12. Foreign entities  
 Not applicable. 

 

13. Commentary on results for the period  
 Refer to enclosed financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025 for further commentary. 

 

14. Status of audit   
The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025 has been audited. There are no items of 
dispute with the auditor and the audit is not subject to qualification.  

 

 

 

   

Signed:  James Clement      Date:   21 August 2025 

  Managing Director  
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The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of Vysarn Limited (“Vysarn” or “the 

Company”) and its controlled entities (“the Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 and auditor’s report thereon. 

 

1. DIRECTORS 

The names and the particulars of the Directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are: 

 

Name 

 

Status 

 

Appointed  

 

Peter Hutchinson  Chairman 27 October 2017  

James Clement Managing Director and CEO 3 February 2020  

Sheldon Burt Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

15 May 2019 to 1 November 2024  

1 November 2024 

 

 

Shane McSweeney 

Steve Dropulich 

Executive Director 

Executive Director 

10 February 2025 

10 February 2025 

 

    

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

As announced to the ASX on 14 February 2025, Shane McSweeney and Steve Dropulich were appointed to the Board of 
Directors of the Company, effective from 10 February 2025. 

The Company completed the acquisitions of Waste Water Services Pty Ltd (“WWS”) and CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd 
(“CMP”) during the year. The addition of CMP provides Vysarn with a beachhead on the east coast of Australia, particularly 
the state of Victoria, in turn diversifying the Company away from its current Western Australian and resource sector 
centricity and establishing the Company as a national water services and infrastructure provider.  

The Group continued to execute its strategy to be Australia’s leading water infrastructure and services provider as detailed 
in the review of operations. In the opinion of the Directors, other than as outlined in this report, there were no other 

significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the financial year.  

 

3. DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.  
 

4. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

 

The Group’s operations: 

 

Vysarn is focused on becoming Australia’s leading water infrastructure and services provider.  
 
Throughout the financial period, the Group continued to focus on providing ‘end-to-end’ water services to various sectors, 

including, resources, urban development, government and utilities. The Group’s operational  divisions include: 
 

1. Industrial 

• Pentium Hydro Pty Ltd ("Pentium Hydro"). 

• Pentium Test Pumping Pty Ltd (“PTP”). 

 

2. Technology 

• Project Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd (“Project Engineering”) . 

• Waste Water Services Pty Ltd (“WWS”). 

 

3. Advisory 

• Pentium Water Pty Ltd (“Pentium Water”). 

• CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd (“CMP”). 

 

4. Infrastructure  

• Vysarn Asset Management Pty Ltd (“VAM”). 
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Investment was made in expanding the Company’s executive management depth and breadth, having appointed 
new Executive Directors and General Managers to provide greater levels of experience & governance and help support the 
Company’s next stage of growth. The Group continues to make significant investment in business operating systems that 

facilitate the integration of business units across disparate regions and sectors. 
 
Industrial 

 
Pentium Hydro, the Company’s foundation asset in hydrogeological drilling , continued to service primarily Tier 1 iron ore 
miners under a strategy to facilitate long term opportunities for full asset utilisation on improved terms. PTP continued to 
expand the Company’s test pumping division via its growth in injection testing.  
 
Technology 
 

Project Engineering continued to see growing demand for its leading managed aquifer recharge technology in the resources 
sector and WWS continued to be a leading provider of wastewater treatment plants and pumping stations to the resource 
and regional utility sectors. 

 
Advisory 

 
Pentium Water continued to build a highly credible and diverse water advisory team in water resource engineering, urban 
water and mine water and continued to provide Vysarn with an exceptional line of sight and entry opportunities in broader 

water services opportunities. CMP continued to provide end-to-end water focused consultancy services for public and 
private sector clients predominantly in the Victorian market.  
 

Infrastructure 
 

VAM partnered with key stakeholders with the objective to sustainably control, convey and supply material quantities of 
water to meet significant unmet demand in the Pilbara region. Via the Company’s Joint Resource Agreement with Kariyarra 
Aboriginal Corporation, VAM continued to progress the development of a groundwater resource (and associated 

infrastructure) with the potential to address unmet significant industrial and municipal water demand in the Pilbara region 
of Western Australia.  
 
The Group’s business and strategy: 
 
Vysarn is focused on the integration and development of water specialised services and technologies.  
Vysarn’s vertically integrated model provides water services to various sectors, including resources, urban  
development, government and utilities. The efficient and environmentally responsible management of water is  
a critical and growing issue that the Company anticipates will continue to present significant growth opportunities, both 
vertically and horizontally. 
 
The recent acquisitions of WWS and CMP enhance the Group’s scale and diversified capabilities, delivering a platform for 
national growth of Vysarn’s Technology and Advisory divisions. 
 

5. LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

The Group will continue to pursue new contract opportunities in Australia for its hydrogeological drilling, test pumping, 

reinjection and water consultancy focused business activities. 
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6. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

The profit for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $10,693,410 (30 June 2024: $7,960,510). 
 

Working capital, represented by current assets less current liabilities, was $24,526,663 (30 June 2024: $11,240,070). The 

Company had positive cash flow from operating activities for the year amounting to $17,164,126 (2024: $10,213,381). 

 

Operational revenue for the year ended 30 June 2025 was $106,526,209 (2024: $75,885,416).  

 

The table below provides a comparison of the key results for the year ended 30 June 2025 to the preceding year ended  

30 June 2024: 

 

Statement of Profit or Loss 30-June-25 

($) 

30-June-24 

($) 

Revenue from operations 106,526,209 75,885,416 

Reported profit / (loss) after tax  10,693,410 7,960,510 

 

Statement of Financial Position 30-June-25 

($) 

30-June-24 

($) 

Net assets 99,373,429 41,057,576 

Total assets 138,705,643 65,722,895   

Cash and cash equivalents 12,957,391 3,731,180   

 

7. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The Group currently operates hydrogeological drilling, test pumping, reinjection water services, water consultancy and 

waste water businesses.  

 
The Group aims to become a significant provider of production critical water services and solutions to industry in Australia. 
 

8. EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

The Company released the following material ASX announcement post 30 June 2025:   

Hazen Heads of Agreement. 

On 25 July 2025, the Group announced CMP had entered into a Heads of Agreement (“HOA”) with Hazen and Sawyer D.P.C.  

Under the terms of the HOA, CMP and Hazen will work collaboratively to identify and deliver water infrastructure projects 

within Australia. The HOA also provides for reciprocal opportunities for CMP to subcontract engineering consulting services 

to Hazen for delivery of United States domiciled water infrastructure projects. 

There were no other matters or circumstance that has arisen since 30 June 2025 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations or the Company’s state of affairs in future financial 
years. 

 

9. INDUSTRY AND GEOGRAPHIC EXPOSURES 

The Group is exposed to the Australian mining industry, government, municipalities, utilities and the large scale domestic 
urban development sector. On a geographic basis, the Group’s operations are predominantly exposed to Western Australia 

and Victoria.  

 

10. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION  

In the normal course of business, there are no specific environmental regulations or requirements that the Group is currently 
subject to. 
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11. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS & COMPANY SECRETARY 

Peter Hutchinson Chairman (appointed 27 October 2017) 

Experience and Expertise: Mr Hutchinson holds a Bachelor of Commerce (UWA) and is a Fellow of 
both the Australian Institute of Company Directors and Certified Practicing 
Accountants.  
 

Mr Hutchinson was a Non-Executive Director of Zeta Resources (formerly 
Kumarina Resources Ltd). Mr Hutchinson was the founding director of ASX 
listed Forge Group Ltd, floated in 2007 with a market capitalisation of 
$12m and reaching over $450m at the time of Mr Hutchinson’s resignation 
as CEO and final sell down in July 2012. Mr Hutchinson has chaired ASX 
listed company Resource Equipment Ltd and was the founding  
shareholder and Chairman of Mareterram Ltd, both the subject of 

successful takeover bids at significant premiums to market prices.  
 

Mr Hutchinson has substantial experience in mergers and acquisitions, 

prospectus preparation, ASX listing, compliance and corporate 
governance, company secretarial requirements and exit strategies, and 
has been a Member of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees, 

often as Chairman. 

Other current listed directorships: N/A 

Former listed directorships (last 3 years): N/A 

Interests in shares: 

Interest in options: 

69,100,000 fully paid ordinary shares 

Nil 

Interests in performance rights: Nil 

  

James Clement   Managing Director and CEO (appointed 3 February 2020) 

Experience and Expertise: Mr Clement holds a Master of Business Administration, a Bachelor of 
Science, a Graduate Diploma of Agribusiness, a Graduate Certificate in 
Applied Finance and is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. He is an experienced ASX company director with a 
demonstrated history of successfully managing and leading businesses. 
 

Prior to his appointment at Vysarn Ltd, Mr Clement was previously the 
Managing Director and CEO of sustainable agricultural company 
Mareterram Ltd. He led the cornerstone asset acquisitions, the ASX listing 
of the company and its subsequent successful takeover at a significant 

premium to the market price. 
 

Mr Clement is currently a director of the Fremantle Football Club and is a 
past director and vice chairman of the Western Australia Fishing Industry 

Council. He also has over a decade of experience in finance and 
investment during his time as an institutional dealer and retail fund 

manager for financial service companies specialising in Western Australian 
small cap industrial and resource companies. 

Other current listed directorships: N/A 

Former listed directorships (last 3 years): N/A 

Interests in shares: 28,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares 

Interest in options: Nil 

Interest in performance rights: 6,000,000 performance rights 
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Sheldon Burt   Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 November 2024) 
Executive Director (appointed 15 May 2019, transitioned to 
Non_Executive on 1 November 2024) 

Experience and Expertise: Mr Burt is a Non-Executive Director of Vysarn Limited and co-founder of 
its subsidiary Pentium Hydro Pty Ltd. A drilling industry professional with 
over 35-years national and international experience, Mr Burt has held 

various roles over that time including field based, operational  
responsibilities, senior management, executive management and 
company proprietorship.   
 
Prior to forming Pentium Hydro and joining the Vysarn board in 2019, Mr 
Burt was the co-founder and Managing Director of SBD Drilling, a Perth 
based exploration drilling company with successful operations in Australia 

and West Africa from 2004 to 2011 before selling and moving on to the 
role of General Manager at Easternwell Minerals for 6 years between 2012 
and 2018. 

 
Mr Burt is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Other current listed directorships: N/A 

Former listed directorships (last 3 years): N/A 

Interests in shares: 11,217,315 

Interest in options: 

Interest in performance rights: 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Shane McSweeney    

 

Executive Director, (appointed 10 February 2025) 

Experience and Expertise: Mr Shane McSweeney is an accomplished executive leader, bringing with 

him 20 years’ extensive experience in advisory services, strategic 

management, operational excellence and corporate governance ,  

specialising in the water sector. Mr McSweeney’s career spans almost two 

decades in consultancy practices encompassing senior leadership roles in 

consultancy and advisory businesses focusing on water services across 

diverse industries.  

 

Mr McSweeney holds a Bachelor of Science in Environmental Science, a 

Master in Environmental Engineering and is a Graduate of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors. Mr McSweeney is currently the General 

Manager of Pentium Water and Director of CMP, leading the Group’s  

Advisory segment.     

Other current listed directorships: N/A 

Former listed directorships (last 3 years): N/A 

Interests in shares: 426,595 fully paid ordinary shares 

Interest in options: Nil 

Interest in performance rights: 6,000,000 performance rights 
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Steve Dropulich   Executive Director, (appointed 10 February 2025) 

Experience and Expertise: Mr Steve Dropulich is a 30-year veteran of the Australian energy and 

infrastructure services sector having established and led market leading 

contracting companies in senior executive management roles across both 

public and private business. Prior to joining Vysarn, Mr Dropulich was a 

founding Director of an ASX listed energy and infrastructure services 

company, where he was the Managing Director for over 10 years until its 

acquisition by an international industrial services group in 2021. He then 

served as Executive Director of Operations for the acquiring group.  

 

Mr Dropulich holds a Bachelor of Commerce in accounting and business 

law and is a member of both the Institute of Chartered Accountants and 

the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr Dropulich is currently the 

Chief Operating Officer of the Company, leading the Group’s Industrial and 

Technology segments.    

Other current listed directorships: N/A 

Former listed directorships (last 3 years): N/A 

Interests in shares: 75,000 

Interest in options: Nil 

Interest in performance rights: 6,000,000 performance rights 

 

 
 

12. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the year ended 30 June 2025, and the 
number of meetings attended by each Director is set out below: 

 

 Board Meetings Audit and Risk Committee 

Meetings 

Remuneration Committee 

Meetings 

 Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

Peter Hutchinson 11 11 2 2 1 1 

James Clement 11 11 2 2 1 1 

Sheldon Burt 11 11 2 2 1 1 

Shane McSweeney 4 4 1 1 - - 

Steve Dropulich 4 4 1 1 - - 

       

Held: Represents the number of meetings held during the time the Directors held office. 

Prior to the appointment of the Company’s new Executive Directors on 10 February 2025, g iven the size of the Company, the 

full Board met in their capacity as Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee ( “Committees”) 

and all matters were dealt with by the full Board in their capacity as members of the Committees. Effective from 10 February 

2025, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is made up of the Managing Director and CEO (James Clement) and the 

Non-Executive Directors (Peter Hutchinson and Sheldon Burt).  
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13. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has indemnified the Directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, 

in their capacity as a Director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable. 

  

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the Directors and executives of the 

Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits  

disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

  

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought 

against the officers in their capacity as officers in the Company, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by 

the officers in connection with such proceedings.  This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a  

wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the off icers of their position or of information to gain advantage 

for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the Company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between 

amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.  

 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 

The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 

Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

  

14. SHARES UNDER OPTION 

No options were issued during the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: NIL).  

 
At 30 June 2025 and as at the date of this report, there are no unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option 
(2024: 10,000,000). 

 
As per the ASX announcement on 4 July 2024, Mr James Clement exercised his 10,000,000 options through the use of the 

Director Loan, as approved by Shareholders at the 2023 Annual General Meeting, and subsequently varied and approved by 
Shareholders at the General Meeting dated 28 March 2025. Refer to Note 22 for further information.  
 

15. SHARES UNDER PERFORMANCE RIGHTS OR SUBJECT TO VESTING CONDITIONS 

At 30 June 2025 and as at the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under performance rights 

are as follows: 

 

Grant Date Date of Vesting Vesting Conditions Number Under 
Performance Rights 

28-Mar-25 30-Jun-27 Employment and cumulative EPS condition 6,666,667 

28-Mar-25 30-Jun-28 Employment and cumulative EPS condition 6,666,667 

28-Mar-25 30-Jun-29 Employment and cumulative EPS condition 6,666,666 

Total   20,000,000 

The vesting conditions of the above performance rights are pending assessment and as such the unissued shares under 

these performance rights have yet to be exercised. 3,333,335 fully paid ordinary shares were issued during the year ended 

30 June 2025 upon the conversion of performance rights held by Key Management Personnel. Refer to the Remuneration 

Report for further information. 

 

In addition the above, there were 30,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares on issue as “deferred consideration shares” in 

relation to the acquisition of CMP during the year. These deferred consideration shares will vest on achievement of certain 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) targets for earn out periods over the next three 

years. 

 

16. PROCEEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE GROUP 

No person has applied for leave of Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 to bring proceedings on behalf of 
the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company or its controlled entities is a party for the purpose of 
taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of such proceedings. The Group was not a party to any 
such proceedings during the year.  
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17. NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments in addition to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 

expertise and experience with the Company are important. Non-audit services provided during the financial year by the 

auditor are detailed below. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general 

standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Acts 2001. 

 

 30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

Amount paid/payable to Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd or related entities 

for non-audit services 

  

Pitcher Partners Accountants & Advisors WA Pty Ltd – Taxation compliance 23,500 26,250 

Total auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services 23,500 26,050 

 

In the event that non-audit services are provided by Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd or related entities, the Board has 

established certain procedures to ensure that the provision of non-audit services are compatible with, and do not 

compromise the auditors independence requirement of the Corporation Act 2001. These procedures include: 

 

- Non-audit services will be subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and will be 

reviewed by the Board to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor and other general 

principles to independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 

Independence Standards); and  

- Ensuring non-audit services do not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management 

or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and 

rewards. 

- Decision on non-audit services were decided upon by the full Board in the absence of any audit committee 

meetings. 

   

18. AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

The auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the year ended 

30 June 2025 has been received and can be found on page 22 of the financial report. 

 

19.  ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Director’s Reports) Instrument 2016/191, the amounts in the 

Directors’ report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1 (where rounding is applicable).
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 

The remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2025 outlines the remuneration arrangement of the Company in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), as amended (the Act) and its regulations. This 
information has been audited, as required by section 308(3C) of the Act.  

 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

1. Introduction 

2. Remuneration governance 

3. Executive remuneration arrangement 

4. Non-Executive Director fee arrangement 

5. Details of remuneration 

6. Share-based compensation 

7. Loans to Directors and executives 

8. Other transactions and balances with KMP and their related parties 

9. Key performance indicators of the Company over the last 5 years 

 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each of the Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) 

of the Company (the Directors and executives) for the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out below: 

 

Key Management Personnel covered under this report are as follows: 

Name Status Appointed 

Peter Hutchinson  Chairman 27 October 2017 

James Clement Managing Director and CEO 3 February 2020 

Sheldon Burt Executive Director 15 May 2019 

 Non-Executive Director 1 November 2024 

Shane McSweeney Executive Director 10 February 2025 

Steve Dropulich Executive Director 10 February 2025 

   

1. Introduction  

KMP have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group. KMP comprise  
the Directors of the Company. 
 
Compensation levels for KMP are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced Directors 
and executives. The Board may seek independent advice on the appropriateness of compensation packages, given the trend 
in comparative companies both locally and internationally and objectives of the Company’s compensation.  
 
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The objective of the Company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic objectives 

and the creation of value for shareholders, and it is considered to conform to the market best practice for the delivery of 
reward. The Board of Directors (“the Board”) ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward 
governance practices: 

• Competitiveness and reasonableness; 

• Acceptability to shareholders; 

• Performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation; 

• Transparency; and 

• Capital management. 
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1. Introduction (continued)  
 
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for its Directors and executives. The 

performance of the Company depends on the quality of its Directors and executives. The remuneration philosophy is to 
attract, motivate and retain high performing and high-quality personnel. The Company has structured a market competitive 
executive remuneration framework. The reward framework is designed to align executive reward to shareholders' interests.  

 
The Board has considered that it should seek to enhance shareholders' interests by: 

• Focusing on shareholder value and returns; and 

• Attracting and retaining high calibre executives. 

Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives' interests by: 

• Rewarding capability and experience; 

• Reflecting a competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth; 

• Providing a clear structure for earning rewards; and 

• Providing recognition for contribution. 

 

2. Remuneration governance 

Prior to the appointment of the Company’s new Executive Directors on 10 February 2025, given the size of the Company, the 

full Board met in their capacity as Remuneration and Nomination Committee and all matters were dealt with by the full Board 
in their capacity as members of the committee. Effective from 10 February 2025, the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee is made up of the Managing Director and CEO (James Clement) and the Non-Executive Directors (Peter Hutchinson 

and Sheldon Burt). All remuneration matters are now considered by the newly formed Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, in accordance with a nomination and remuneration committee charter. During the financial year, the Company 

did not engage any remuneration consultants. 

 
3. Executive remuneration arrangement 

The compensation structures are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic 
objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders. Compensation packages may include a 
mix of fixed compensation, equity-based compensation, as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. Shares 
and options may only be issued to Directors subject to approval by shareholders in a general meeting. 

 

The compensation structures take into account: 

• The capability and experience of the executive; 

• The executive’s ability to control the relevant segment’s performance; and 

• The Company’s performance including: 

o The Company’s earnings; and 

o The growth in share price and delivering constant returns on shareholder wealth. 

The short-term incentives (“STI”) program is designed to align the targets of the business units with the performance hurdles 
of executives. STI payments are granted to executives based on specific annual targets and key performance indicators 
(“KPI's”) being achieved. KPI's include profit contribution, customer satisfaction, leadership contribution and product 
management. The long-term incentives (“LTI”) include long service leave and share-based payments. Shares are awarded to 
executives based on long-term incentive measures and includes an increase in shareholders’ value. The Board reviewed the 

long-term equity-linked performance incentives specifically for executives during the year ended 30 June 2025. 

 
Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration 
Remuneration for certain individuals is directly linked to the performance of the Company. A portion of cash bonus and 

incentive payments, including performance rights, are dependent on defined earnings per share targets being met. The 
remaining portion of the cash bonus and incentive payments are at the discretion of the Board. 

  
The Board is of the opinion that the continued improved results can be attributed in part to the adoption of performance-

based compensation and is satisfied that this improvement will continue to increase shareholder wealth if maintained over 

the coming years. 
 

Voting and comments made at the company's 2024 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 
The Company received more than 98% of "yes" votes on its remuneration report for the 2024 financial year. The Company 
did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.  
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The key terms of Mr Clement, Mr McSweeney, Mr Dropulich and Mr Burt’ s agreements are set out below for the year 
ended 30 June 2025 are as follows; 

 

James Clement, Managing Director and CEO 

 

(a) Term of agreement: commencing 3 February 2020 with indefinite duration. 

 

(b) Remuneration:  

(i) a base salary of $450,000 per annum, increasing to $550,000 with effect from 1 January 2025, including 

mandatory superannuation contributions; 

(ii) a short-term cash incentive of up to $250,000 per annum, subject to the achievement of certain short-term 

incentive key performance indicators; and 

(iii) a long-term incentive being the issue of 6,000,000 performance rights.   

 

(c) General termination: the agreement can be terminated:  

(i) by either party for no reason by giving 3 months’ notice in writing to the other party; and 

(ii) by the Company effective immediately in the event the executive Director is guilty of gross misconduct, 

becomes bankrupt or insolvent, is convicted of a criminal offence or other similar grounds. 

 

Shane McSweeney, Executive Director 

 

(a) Term of agreement: commencing 3 February 2025 with indefinite duration. 

 

(b) Remuneration:  

(iv) a base salary of $300,000 per annum, including mandatory superannuation contributions; 

(v) a short-term cash incentive of up to $90,000 per annum, subject to the achievement of certain short-term 

incentive key performance indicators; and 

(vi) a long-term incentive being the issue of 6,000,000 performance rights.   

 

(c) General termination: the agreement can be terminated:  

(iii) by either party for no reason by giving 3 months’ notice in writing to the other party; and 

(iv) by the Company effective immediately in the event the executive Director is guilty of gross misconduct, 

becomes bankrupt or insolvent, is convicted of a criminal offence or other similar grounds. 

 

Steve Dropulich, Executive Director 

 

(a) Term of agreement: commencing 3 February 2025 with indefinite duration. 

 

(b) Remuneration:  

(vii) a base salary of $365,000 per annum, including mandatory superannuation contributions; 

(viii) a short-term cash incentive of up to $110,000 per annum, subject to the achievement of certain short-term 

incentive key performance indicators; and 

(ix) a long-term incentive being the issue of 6,000,000 performance rights.   

 

(c) General termination: the agreement can be terminated:  

(v) by either party for no reason by giving 3 months’ notice in writing to the other party; and 

(vi) by the Company effective immediately in the event the executive Director is guilty of gross misconduct, 

becomes bankrupt or insolvent, is convicted of a criminal offence or other similar grounds. 
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Sheldon Burt, Executive Director (until 1 November 2024, Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 November 2024) 

 

(a) Term of agreement: commencing 15 May 2019 until 1 November 2024. 

 

(b) Remuneration:  

(i) a base salary of $300,000 per annum, including mandatory superannuation contributions; 

(ii) a short-term cash incentive of up to $150,000 per annum, subject to the achievement of certain short-term 

incentive key performance indicators; and 

(iii) a long-term incentive being the issue of 5,000,000 performance rights upon commencement. 

 

(c) General termination: the agreement can be terminated:  

(i) by either party for no reason by giving 3 months’ notice in writing to the other party; 

(ii) by the executive Director if the Company breaches the agreement and does not remedy the breach within 

10 business days on notice of breach; and  

(iii) by the Company effective immediately in the event the executive Director is guilty of gross misconduct, 

becomes bankrupt or insolvent, is convicted of a criminal offence or other similar grounds. 

 

(d) Termination on material diminution: an executive Director can terminate the agreement if he suffers material 

diminution in his status or position in the Company. If this occurs: 

(i) within 2 years of employment, the Company will pay the executive Director an amount equal to 3 months 

base salary, and 50% of the performance rights held by him shall vest subject to any restrictions the Board 

may impose; and  

(ii) after 2 years of employment, the Company will pay the executive Director an amount equal to 3 months 

base salary, and all of the performance rights held by him shall vest subject to any restrictions by the Board 

may impose.   
 

4. Non-Executive Director fee arrangement 

Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-executive Directors' 
fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board may, from time to time, receive advice from independent 

remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive Directors' fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. 
The Chairman's fees are determined independently to the fees of other non-executive Directors based on comparative roles 
in the external market. The Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration.  

 

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive Directors is presently limited to an aggregate of 
$200,000 per annum and any change is subject to approval by shareholders at the general meeting. Fees for non-executive 
Directors are not linked to the performance of the Company. 

The table below summarises the annual fees payable to non-executive Directors for the 2025 financial year (inclusive of 
superannuation):  

 Board Committee Total 

Board Fees – per 

annum 

$ $ $ 

Chair  120,000 - 120,000 

Non-Executive Director 60,000 - 60,000 

    

Non-executive Directors may be reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred in attending to the Company’s affairs.  Non-
executive Directors do not receive retirement benefits. The Company or the non-executive Directors can terminate the above 
arrangements at any time upon written notice being provided, with no minimum notice period applicable.  
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5. Details of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Company are set out in the following tables.  

 Short-term benefits Post-
employment 

Equity  

 Short-term 
salary, fees & 
commissions 

STI 
cash 

bonus 

Non-
monetary 

benefits 

Other 
employee 
benefits5 

Post-
employment 

superannuation 

Share-
based 

payments 

Total 

 

2025 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Chairman        

Peter 

Hutchinson 

108,108 - - - 12,432 - 120,540 

Non-Executive 

Directors 

       

Sheldon Burt3 40,000 - - - - - 40,000 

Executive 
Directors 

       

James Clement1, 

2,4 
470,068 200,000 29,633 55,127 29,932 167,142 951,902 

Sheldon Burt 3 100,000 - - - - - 100,000 

Shane 

McSweeney2,6 

111,490 - - - 12,472 167,142 291,104 

Steve 

Dropulich2,6 

139,612 - - - 12,472 167,142 319,226 

Total  969,278 200,000 29,633 55,127 67,308 501,426 1,822,772 

        

1 The amount of $29,633 disclosed as a non-monetary benefit for Mr Clement is a salary sacrificed amount pertaining to a 
novated lease on a motor vehicle.   
2 Refer to section 6 of this remuneration report for further information pertaining to share-based payment expenses 

recognised for key management personnel. 

3 As at Mr Burt transitioned from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director of Vysarn Limited. Mr Burt’s Director fees 

were paid to Connada Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by Mr Burt.  
4 Mr Clement’s total remuneration increased on 1 January 2025. 

5 Relates to benefit received by Mr Clement in the form of an interest free loan to execute his Managing Director Options. 
fer to section 7 of the Remuneration Report for further information. 

6 The remuneration summary of Mr Shane McSweeney and Mr Steve Dropulich are effective from the date they became 
key management personnel (KMP), being the date of the Directorship appointments on 3 February 2025. 
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5. Details of remuneration (continued) 

 

 

 

Short-term benefits Post-
employment 

Equity  

 Short-term 
salary, fees & 

commissions 

STI cash 
bonus 

Non-
monetary 

benefits 

Other 
employee 

benefits 

Post-
employment 

superannuation 

Share-
based 

payments 

Total 

 

2024 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Chairman        

Peter 

Hutchinson 

108,108 - - - 11,892 - 120,000 

Executive 

Directors 

       

James 

Clement1, 2 
422,601 125,000 33,360 - 27,399 157,933 766,293 

Sheldon 

Burt 2,3 

215,884 110,000 - - 2,283 18,631 346,798 

Total  746,593 235,000 33,360 - 41,574 176,564 1,233,091 

        

1 The amount of $33,360 disclosed as a non-monetary benefit for Mr Clement is a salary sacrificed amount pertaining to a 

novated lease on a motor vehicle.   
2 Refer to section 6 of this remuneration report for further information pertaining to share-based payment expenses 

recognised for key management personnel. 
3 As at 31 July 2023 Mr Burt resigned as an employee of Vysarn Limited. $43,167 was paid to Mr Burt during the period as 

an employee. From 1 August 2023, Mr Burt’s Executive Director fees were paid to Connada Pty Ltd, an entity controlled 
by Mr Burt. $285,000 was paid to Connada Pty Ltd during the period. 

 

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:  

 
  Fixed Remuneration At Risk STI At Risk LTI  

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 

Directors 
      

Peter Hutchinson 100% 100% - - - - 

James Clement 61% 63% 21% 16% 18% 21% 

Sheldon Burt 100% 63% - 32% - 5% 

Shane McSweeney 43% - - - 57% - 

Steve Dropulich 48% - - - 52% - 

 
 
Cash bonuses are dependent on meeting defined performance measures (e.g. minimum EBT financial hurdles, key safety 
metrics, growth targets). The amount of the bonus is determined having regard to the satisfaction of performance 

measures and weightings, including qualitative stretch targets and key quantitative measures. The maximum bonus 
values are established at the start of each financial year and amounts payable are determined in the final month of the 
financial year by the Board.  
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6. Share-based compensation 

 

Issue of Shares 

During the year ended 30 June 2025 3,333,335 performance rights were converted to fully paid ordinary shares and issued 
to Executive Directors as part of Tranche 3 of the Performance Rights Incentive. These performance rights had been expensed 

in full in the prior periods. 

 

Performance Rights 

As noted above, 3,333,335 performance rights were exercised and converted to fully paid ordinary shares as the achievement 

of the vesting conditions had been met. 

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company issued 20,000,000 “executive performance rights” in three tranches as 
performance incentives for Executive Directors and Management.  

As at 30 June 2025, 20,000,000 performance rights were on issue and outstanding. Each performance right will convert on a 
1:1 basis to fully paid ordinary shares upon achievement of their relevant vesting conditions (refer below).  

Vesting of the performance rights is subject to achievement of vesting conditions as follows: 

 

Tranche Number of Performance Rights on 

IssueE . 

Condition Test Date Vesting Condition for each respective 
Tranche 

1 6,666,667 30 June 2027 • Employment condition, and meeting 
either of the; 
 

• Cumulative EPS condition; or 

• Volume weighted average price of 
shares condition   

   

2 6,666,667 30 June 2028 

3 6,666,667 30 June 2029 

 

 
Where the: 

• Employment condition – means the holder of the rights remains employed by the Company at the condition test 
date;  

• Cumulative EPS condition – means the average annualised earnings per share (EPS) of the Company over the 

three periods ending on the Condition Test Date is at least A$0.0251 for Tranche 1, at least $0.0289 for Tranche 2 

and at least $0.0332 for Tranche 3; and 

 

• Volume weighted average price of shares condition - The volume weighted average price of Shares trading on the 

ASX in the ordinary course of trade (VWAP) of at least (“Barrier Price”)  $0.51 for Tranche 1, $0.59 for Tranche 2 

and $0.67 for Tranche 3 over 5 consecutive trading days (on which Shares have actually traded) at any time during 
the 90-day period commencing on the day immediately after the Condition Test Date.  
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Movements in performance rights 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of performance rights in the Company held, directly, indirectly or 
beneficially, by each key management personnel and the top 5 senior executives of the Company, including their related 

parties, is as follows: 

 

 

Key Management 
Personnel and 
Senior Executives 

Opening 

balance 

Granted as 

compensation 

Vested and 
exercised during 

the year 

Closing balance Unvested and 
not exercisable 

at the end of the 

year 

2025 No.  No.  No.  No.  No. 

Peter Hutchinson -    -    -    -    -    

Sheldon Burt 1,666,667    -    (1,666,667)    -    -    

James Clement 1,666,668  6,000,000    (1,666,668)  6,000,000    6,000,000    

Shane McSweeney -  6,000,000     -  6,000,000     6,000,000     

Steve Dropulich -  6,000,000    -  6,000,000    6,000,000    

Other Executive -  2,000,000 -  2,000,000 2,000,000 

 Total 3,333,335    20,000,000    (3,333,335)    20,000,000    20,000,000    

 

During the year ended 30 June 2025, 3,333,335 performance rights vested on 1 July 2024 and were exercised upon vesting 

for $Nil consideration, resulting in the issue of 3,333,335 fully paid ordinary shares. Conditions in relation to these 
performance rights were successfully met in the prior period, and were expensed in full as at 30 June 2024.  

 

Performance rights on issue at year end 

At 30 June 2025, the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under performance rights are as follows: 

 

Tranche   Number 
Under 

Performance 
Rights 

Value at 
Grant Date 

($) 

Date of 
Vesting 

1   6,666,666 2,252,000 30-Jun-27 

2   6,666,666 2,154,000 30-Jun-28 

3   6,666,668 2,152,000 30-Jun-29 

Total   20,000,000  6,558,000 - 
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The executive performance rights have been valued using a Parisian Barrier in parallel with a Monte Carlo Simulation, 
utilising the following inputs: 
 

Valuation Inputs Tranche 1 Tranche 2  Tranche 3  

Valuation Date 28-Mar-25 28-Mar-25 28-Mar-25 

Spot Price $0.49 $0.49 $0.49 

Barrier Price $0.51 $0.59 $0.67 

Parisian Barrier Price $0.56 $0.64 $0.73 

Condition Test Date 30-Jun-27 30-Jun-28 30-Jun-29 

Vesting Period (Yrs)                  2.26                           3.26                           4.26  

Expiry Date 28-Mar-30 28-Mar-30 28-Mar-30 

Expected Volatility *  40% 40% 40% 

Risk Free Rate 3.94% 3.94% 3.94% 

Dividend Yield  Nil   Nil   Nil  

Value per executive performance right 

             

0.3378                       0.3231                       0.3228  
 
Number of executive performance rights issued per 

tranche    6,666,667             6,666,667          6,666,667  

Valuation 
        

$2,252,000  
                

$2,154,000  
                

$2,152,000  
 
 
* Volatility was determined with reference to the Company’s historical volatility for a com parative vesting period prior to 
the valuation date. 
 
The executive performance rights will be brought to account over the expected vesting period to which they relate. 
$557,140 in share-based payments was recorded as an expense in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income during the year ended 30 June 2025 in relation to the executive performance rights (30 June 2024: $41,700).  
 
Options 

No options were issued during the year ended 30 June 2025.  

On 2 July 2024 Mr James Clement exercised his 10,000,000 Managing Director Options through the use of the Director 

Loan, as approved by shareholders at the 2023 Annual General Meeting. On 28 March 2025, shareholders approved to vary 
the terms of the Director Loan, which was then finalised and signed by Mr James Clement. 

The Company provided Mr James Clement with an interest free loan of $750,000 (“Loan Funded Shares”) for the purpose of 
funding the exercise of the Managing Director Options. 

Mr James Clement must repay the Loan Balance to the company within 10 business days of the earlier of: 

• three (3) years after the date on which Mr James Clement (and/or his nominee(s)) is issued the Loan Funded 

Shares on exercise of the Managing Director Options (Maturity Date); 

• the date on which Mr James Clement ceases to be employed or engaged by the Group; or 

• where the Board has determined (in its absolute discretion) that Mr James Clement engaged in serious 

misconduct; or 

• the date on which the last Loan Funded Shares held by Mr James Clement are sold.  
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Options over equity instruments 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, 

indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their related parties, is as follows:  

 

Key Management 

Personnel 

Opening 

balance 

Vested during 

the year 

Granted as 

compensation 

Exercised Closing 

balance 

Peter Hutchinson - - -    - -    

Sheldon Burt - - - - - 

James Clement 10,000,000 (10,000,000) -  10,000,000 -  

Shane McSweeney - - - - - 

Steve Dropulich - - - - - 

Total  10,000,000   (10,000,000)   -    10,000,000   -    

 
10,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued as a result of the 10,000,000 options exercised by Mr James Clement, for 
at an exercise price of $0.075 per option. The exercise price for these options were funded by way of a loan to the Director.  
Refer to section 7 for further information.  
 
Shareholding  

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other members of key management 

personnel of the Company, including their personally related parties, is set out below:  

 

30 June 2025 Opening 

balance 
Other Received on 

exercise of 
options 

Received on 

exercise of 
performance 

rights 

On-market 

purchases 
Closing balance 

Peter Hutchinson 69,100,000  -    -    -  - 69,100,000  

Sheldon Burt 9,550,648 -    -    1,666,667    - 11,217,315  

James Clement 16,833,332  -    10,000,000    1,666,668    -  28,500,000  

Shane McSweeney - 426,595* - - - 426,595 

Steve Dropulich - - - - 75,000 75,000 

Total 95,483,980 426,595    10,000,000    3,333,335 75,000 109,318,910 

 

* Shares previously held by Mr Shane McSweeney as at 10 February 2025, when he became a key management personnel. 

 
30 June 2024 Opening 

balance 

Other Received on 

exercise of 

options 

Received on 

exercise of 

performance 

rights 

On-market 

purchases 

Closing balance 

Peter Hutchinson 69,100,000  -    -    -  - 69,100,000  

James Clement 15,166,666  -    1,666,666    -  - 16,833,332  

Sheldon Burt  7,883,981  -    1,666,667    -  -  9,550,648  

Total 92,150,647 -    3,333,333    -  - 95,483,980  
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7. Loans to Directors and executives 

Apart from the details disclosed in this Note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Group since the end 

of the previous financial year. 

 

Key management 

personnel or their related 

party Nature of transactions Transaction value Receivable balance 

  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

  $ $ $ $ 

James Clement Options Loan Agreement 750,000 - 642,014 - 

 

On 24 November 2022, Shareholders approved the issue of 10,000,000 Options to Mr James Clement (and/or his nominee(s)), 

as part of his long-term incentive-based remuneration package with the Company (Incentive Options). On 23 November 2023, 

Shareholders approved the terms to extend an interest free loan to Mr Clement, for the exercise of the Incentive Options 

(Director Loan).  

On 2 July 2024, Mr Clement (via his nominee) exercised the 10,000,000 Incentive Options at an exercise price of $0.075, 
funded by a drawdown of $750,000 pursuant to the Director Loan. On 28 March 2025, shareholders approved to vary the 
terms of the Director Loan, which was then finalised and signed by Mr James Clement. 

As a result 10,000,000 Shares (Loan Funded Shares) were issued to Mr James Clement. 

Mr James Clement must repay the Loan Balance to the company within 10 business days of the earlier of: 

• three (3) years after the date on which Mr James Clement (and/or his nominee(s) is issued the Loan Funded 

Shares on exercise of the Managing Director Options (Maturity Date); 

• the date on which Mr James Clement ceases to be employed or engaged by the Group; or 

• where the Board has determined (in its absolute discretion) that Mr James Clement engaged in serious 

misconduct; or 

• the date on which the last Loan Funded Shares held by Mr James Clement are sold.  

 

The loan is interest free and repayable in 3 years from the date Mr James Clement was issued the loan funded shares (i.e. 2 
July 2027). The receivable balance has therefore been recognised at amortised cost, utilising an interest rate of 8.7% per 
annum. This rate was determined by management to be comparable to similar equity funding arrangements available from 

other finance providers. During the period, an interest free loan benefit of $55,127 was recognised as remuneration to Mr 
James Clement pertaining to this arrangement. 

 
8. Other transactions and balances with KMPs and their related parties 
 

Some Directors, or former Directors of the Company, hold or have held positions in other companies, where it is considered 
they control or significantly influence the financial or operating policies of those entities. Transactions between related 
parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless 

otherwise stated.  

Mr Sheldon Burt is currently the Chairman of Metske Pty Ltd, a developer and manufacturer of drilling technology. Metske 

Pty Ltd invoiced Pentium Hydro $46,436 during the period for drilling consumables.  

There were no other purchases from or sales to related parties during the year (2024: $Nil).  
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9. Key performance indicators of the Company over the last 5 years 

 

Consolidated 30-June-25 

($) 

30-June-24 

($) 

30-June-23 

($) 

30-June-22 

($) 

30-June-21 

($) 

Revenue 106,526,209 75,885,416 64,957,156 46,297,406 25,824,506 

Net profit before tax 15,028,343 11,060,394 7,075,570  4,095,180  1,137,420  

Net profit after tax 10,693,410 7,960,510 3,872,558 2,856,729 344,819  

Share price at start of year 0.29 0.132 0.073 0.095 0.05  

Share price at end of year 0.47 0.29 0.132 0.073 0.095 

Interim and final dividend - - -    -    -    

Basic profit per share 0.0213 0.0195 0.0098 0.0073 0.0009  

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (END) 

 

 

 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

  

 

_________________________ 

James Clement 

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Dated 21 August 2025 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

TO THE DIRECTORS OF VYSARN LIMITED 
 

22 
 

 

 

 

 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I declare to the best of my knowledge and 
belief in relation to the audit of the financial report Vysarn Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025, there 
have been: 

• no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit; and 

• no contraventions of the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) 
in relation to the audit. 

 

 

PITCHER PARTNERS BA&A PTY LTD 

 

 

 

MICHAEL LIPRINO    
Executive Director 
 
Perth, 21 August 2025 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Adelaide  |  Brisbane  |  Melbourne  |  Newcastle  |  Perth  |  Sydney

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members 

of which are separate and independent legal entities.
pitcher.com.au .

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd
An independent Western Australian Company ABN 76 601 361 095. 
Level 11, 12-14 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000
Registered Audit Company Number 467435.
Liability limited by a scheme under Professional Standards Legislation.
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The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements

  Group 

  30 June 2025 30 June 2024 

 Notes $ $ 

    

Sales revenue 4 106,526,209 75,885,416 

Cost of sales  (69,729,526) (48,933,093) 

Gross Profit  36,796,683 26,952,323 

    

Other income 5 1,295,530 584,517 

    

Administration and corporate expense 6 (5,602,651) (3,919,312) 

Employee benefits expense 6 (10,604,943) (7,118,432) 

Share-based payment expense  (557,140) (176,564) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (6,016,578) (4,794,454) 

Finance expense 6 (282,558) (467,684) 

Profit before income tax   15,028,343 11,060,394 

Income tax expense 7 (4,334,933) (3,099,884) 

Profit after income tax expense   10,693,410 7,960,510 

Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of 

Vysarn Limited  10,693,410 7,960,510 

Other comprehensive income:    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 

Vysarn Limited  10,693,410 7,960,510 

    

Basic earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of Vysarn 

Limited  9 0.0213 0.0195 

Diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of Vysarn 

Limited 9 0.0205 0.0189 
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  30 June 2025 30 June 2024 

CURRENT ASSETS Notes $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 12,957,391 3,731,180 

Trade and other receivables 11 21,760,800 16,586,392 

Inventories 12 7,519,796 6,317,287 

Other current assets 13 7,920,506 1,562,332 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  50,158,493 28,197,191 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Plant and equipment  14 40,369,967 33,583,208 

Right of use assets 15 1,752,290 549,182 

Intangible assets 16 45,781,887 3,393,314 

Other non-current assets 22 643,006 - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  88,547,150 37,525,704 

TOTAL ASSETS  138,705,643 65,722,895 

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Borrowings 17 885,169 1,954,925 

Trade and other payables 18 18,725,758 10,013,951 

Current tax liability 7 1,858,167 2,960,109 

Employee provisions 19 3,393,755 1,349,445 

Lease liability 15 768,981 428,691 

Contingent consideration payable 26 - 250,000 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  25,631,830 16,957,121 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Borrowings 17 - 885,269 

Lease liability 15 1,056,996 153,157 

Employee provisions 19 297,674 130,406 

Deferred tax liability 7 7,064,968 6,284,383 

Contingent consideration payable 26 5,280,746 254,983 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  13,700,384 7,708,198 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  39,332,214 24,665,319 

NET ASSETS  99,373,429 41,057,576 

    

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

Issued capital 20 61,651,251 20,024,837 

Reserve 21 5,996,029 799,775 

Retained earnings   31,726,149 20,232,964 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  99,373,429 41,057,576 

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements
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The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.

 Issued Capital 
Share Based 

Payment Reserve  
Retained Earnings   Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

     
 

Balance at 1 July 2023 20,029,354 623,211 12,271,100 32,923,665 
     

Adjustments - - 1,354 1,354 
Profit for the period - - 7,960,510 7,960,510 

Other comprehensive income - - - - 
Total comprehensive income for the 
period 

- - 7,961,864 7,961,864 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

    

Capital raising costs (4,517) - - (4,517) 

Share based payments - 176,564 - 176,564 

Total transactions with owners (4,517) 176,564 - 172,047 

Balance at 30 June 2024 20,024,837 799,775 20,232,964 41,057,576 

Balance at 1 July 2024 20,024,837 799,775 20,232,964 41,057,576 

     

Profit for the period - - 10,693,410 10,693,410 

Other comprehensive income - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period 

- - 10,693,410 10,693,410 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

    

Issue of shares 43,395,586 - - 43,395,586 
Capital raising costs, net of tax (1,769,172) - - (1.769,172) 

Options exercised and transferred to 
retained earnings 

- (224,774) 224,774 - 

Performance Rights exercised and 

transferred to retained earnings 
- (575,001) 575,001 - 

Deferred (contingent) consideration 
shares issued (Note 26) 

- 5,438,889 - - 

Share based payments (Note 22) - 557,140 - 5,996,029 

Total transactions with owners 41,626,414 5,196,254 799,775 47,622,443 

Balance at 30 June 2025 61,651,251 5,996,029 31,726,149 99,373,429 
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  30 June 2025 30 June 2024 

 Notes $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  112,643,271 76,714,775 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (92,858,466) (66,117,488) 

Income tax paid  (2,973,554) - 

Interest received   635,433 83,778 

Interest and other costs of finance paid  (282,558) (467,684) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 10(a) 17,164,126 10,213,381 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payment for the acquisitions, net of cash acquired 25,26 (29,661,929) - 

Purchase of plant and equipment  (9,987,362) (7,274,703) 

Intangible assets  (1,478,866) - 

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  357,115 1,127,075 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (40,771,042) (6,147,628) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from borrowings  - 1,268,060 

Repayment of borrowings  (2,058,758) (9,433,948) 

Payments for principal portion of lease liabilities  (776,312) (473,600) 

Proceeds from capital raising 20 38,195,586 - 

Capital raising costs  (2,527,389) (4,517) 

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  32,833,127 (8,644,005) 

    

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  9,226,211 (4,578,252) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year  3,731,180 8,309,432 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year  10 12,957,391 3,731,180 

 

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.  F
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NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Vysarn Limited (“Vysarn” or “the Company”) is a listed public Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 

Australia. The Company is a for-profit entity. Its registered office and principal place of business is Level 1, 640 Murray St, 

West Perth WA 6005. 

 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional and presentation currency of the 

Company and its controlled entities (“the Group”). 

 

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 21 August 2025. The 

Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

 

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a) Statement of Compliance  

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards (“AASBs”) (including Australian interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standard Board 

(“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

 

b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 

historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets 

and financial liabilities.  

 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 

basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future peri ods 

affected. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed in Note 2(aa) below. 

   

c) Going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern, which contemplates the 

continuity of normal business activity, realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.   

 

The Directors have reviewed a budget/forecast and having considered the above, are of the opinion that the use of the going 

concern basis is appropriate and that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due for the next 12 

months.  

 

d) Adoption of New Accounting Standards 
The Company has adopted all of the new, revised or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. There was no material 
impact as a result of the adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued. 
 

e) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2025.  

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 

has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and 

only if the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee);  

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
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The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 

one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 

subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from 

the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

f) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods or services performed in the ordinary course of business.  They 
are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current.  Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional which is considered to be fair value; none of the Group’s trade 

receivables contain a financing component. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the 
contractual cashflows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
 
The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.   
 
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on share credit risk characteristics and 

the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on existing market conditions and forward-looking estimates at the end 
of each reporting period.  
 

g) Inventories 
Inventories, including raw materials and stores, work in progress and contract fulfilment costs are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value.  The cost of inventories comprises; expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and the 
costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition, including direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal 

operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and selling expenses. 
 

h) Property, plant & equipment  
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that Is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they 
are incurred. 

 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within other income / (expense) 
in the statement of profit or loss.  The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure 
it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. 

 
Depreciation 

Depreciation is a systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.  The depreciable amount 
is the cost of the asset, less its residual value. An asset is depreciated from the date it is ready for use, meaning the date it 
reaches the location and condition required for it to operate in the manner intended by management.  Depreciation is 

recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of the fixed asset item, since 
this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the assets.  
 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

• Plant and equipment – 2 - 10 years;  

• Computer equipment – 3 years; and 

• Trucks, trailers and light vehicles – 4 - 10 years. 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 

appropriate. 
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i) Right-of-use assets 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date net of any lease incentives received. 
  
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life 

of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities. 
  
The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term 
leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit 
or loss as incurred. 
 
j) Intangible Assets 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that are not 

individually identifiable or separately recognised. Goodwill is initially recognised at an amount equal to the excess of: (a)  the 

aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest, and the acquisition date fair value of 

the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (in the case of a step acquisition); over (b) the net fair value of the identi fiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed. For accounting purposes, such measurement is treated as the cost of goodwill at that  

date. Goodwill is not amortised, but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 

accumulated impairment losses. 

 

Capitalised development costs 
Costs incurred in developing products and technology are initially recognised as an asset and are subsequently amortised 
over their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the product is considered commercialised. The amortisation 
method applied to an intangible asset is consistent with the estimated consumption of economic benefits of the asset. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, development costs are recognised as an intangible asset are measured at cost, less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 

k) Lease liabilities 
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured if 
there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual guarantee; 
lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is 
made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written 
down. 
 

l) Trade and other payables 
Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in 
the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Group. Interest, when charged by the lender, is 

recognised as an expense on an accruals basis. 
 

m) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions are 

measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.  
 
n) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised 

in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.  Fees paid on the establishment 
of loan facilities, which are not incremental costs relating the actual draw -down of the facility, are recognised as 
prepayments and amortised on a straight -line basis over the term of the facility. 

 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group the right at the end of the reporting period to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
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o) Equity and reserves 

Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of  

shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax benefits. The share-based payment reserve records 

the value of share-based payments. 

 

p) Revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group provides drilling services and hires drill rigs and related equipment to the exploration and mining industry pursua nt 

to service contracts with a variety of clients in the sector. 

 

The revenue associated with drilling contracts is recognised in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or 

services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in exchange 

for those goods or services.  Revenue from customer contracts is recognised upon satisfaction of a performance obligation 

under those contracts either over time in accordance with specified units of production (for example meters drilled or hours 

worked) or a point in time when risks and rewards pass to the customer under those contracts (for example the sale of certain 

items including consumables). 

 

Dry hire revenue is recognised as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits, the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment and as such the performance obligation is satisfied over time. 

 

For test pumping services provided under contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with a specified unit of production 

based on rates agreed to with the customer (for example activity completed or hours worked).  

 

For consultancy services provided under contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with a specified unit of production 

based on rates agreed to with the customer (for example project reports completed, or hours worked). 

 

For engineering services provided under contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with a specified unit of production 

based on a rate agreed to with the customer (for example MAR units delivered or hours worked). For engineering services 

provided under contract where services are rendered over time, revenue is recognised over time based on the percentage of 

costs incurred to date relative to total expected costs. This approach is used when the contract outcome can be reliably 

measured and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the Company performs (for example 

waste water treatment plant delivered and installed). 

 

The Group has no material contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the 

customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the 

transaction prices for the time value of money. 

 

Contract assets and liabilities 

AASB 15 uses the terms "contract asset" and "contract liability" to describe what is commonly known as "accrued revenue" 

and "deferred revenue."  Accrued revenue arises where work has been performed however is yet to be invoiced. Deferred 

revenue arises where payment is received prior to work being performed and is allocated to the performance obligations 

within the contract and recognised on satisfaction of the performance obligation. 

 

Contract fulfilment costs 

Costs generally incurred prior to the commencement of a contract may arise due to mobilisation/site setup costs as these 

costs are incurred to fulfil a contract.  Where the costs are expected to be recovered, they are capitalised and expensed over 

the period of revenue recognition.  Where the costs, or a portion of these costs, are reimbursed by the customer, the amount 

received is recognised as deferred revenue. 

 

Contract fulfilment costs are capitalised as an asset when all the following are met: (i) the costs relate directly to the contract 

or specifically identifiable proposed contract; (ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the consolidated entity that  will 

be used to satisfy future performance obligations; and (iii) the costs are expected to be recovered. Contract fulfilment costs 

are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, or a period of 12 months for long term contracts greater 

than 12 months in duration. 
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q) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.  

 

r) Employee benefits 

Wages, salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date 

at current pay rates in respect of employees' services up to that date. 

 

Superannuation 

Contributions to employee superannuation plans are charged as an expense as the contributions are paid or become 

payable. 

 

Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled. 

 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 

measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 

to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 

levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 

estimated future cash outflows. 

 

s) Fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the 

principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.  
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

  
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and 

transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. 
  

t) Share-based payments 

Share-based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded 
at the date the goods or services are received. Share-based payment transactions are recognised in equity if the goods or 

services were received in an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, or as a liability if the goods and services were 
acquired in a cash settled share-based payment transaction. The fair value of options and performance rights are 
determined using a Black-Scholes, Hoadley, Monte Carlo Simulation, or other appropriate pricing models.  The number of 

share options and performance rights expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period such 
that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted is based on the 

number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

 
The Group initially measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 

equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
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requires determination of the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the 

grant. 
 

This estimate also requires determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life 
of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them, as well as an assessment of the 
probability of achieving non-market based vesting conditions. 

 
The probability of achieving non-market based vesting conditions of performance rights is assessed at each reporting 
period. 
 
The Company has applied judgement in assessing the likelihood of achieving the performance milestones in relation to the 
performance rights issued in the period.  

 

u) Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 

income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to tempora ry 

differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the  

assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except f or: 

• When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting nor taxable profits; or 

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and 

the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 

taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

  

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 

assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for t he 

carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets a gainst 

current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 

either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.  

 

Tax consolidation 

The Group and its wholly owned Australian resident entity formed a tax-consolidated group effective 28 August 2019.  As a 

consequence, all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity from that date.  The head entity within 

the tax-consolidated group is Vysarn Limited. 

 

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the 

members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-

consolidated group using the “separate taxpayer within group” approach by reference to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation.  

 

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries are assumed 

by the head entity in the tax-consolidated group and are recognised by the Group as amounts payable (receivable) to/(from) 

other entities in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts (refer below).  Any 

difference between these amounts is recognised by the Group as an equity contribution or distribution.  

 

The Group recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be utilised. 

 

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments 

of the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only. 
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v) Financial Instruments  

Initial recognition and measurement  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions to 

the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the Company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the 
assets (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).  
 
Classification and subsequent measurement  
Financial liabilities 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methods.  For contingent 
consideration, it is measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Financial assets  
Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost.  

 
Derecognition  
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability f rom the statement of 

financial position. 
 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). 
An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to 

the terms of a financial liability is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial 
liability.  

 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Derecognition of financial assets 
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expire, or the asset is transferred in 
such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.  
 

w) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annua lly 
for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-
financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a 
cash-generating unit. 
 

x) Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial posit ion. 

  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.  
 

y) Rounding of amounts 

In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, the amounts in the 

directors’ report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to 

the nearest dollar (where indicated). 
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z) New Accounting Standards not yet adopted  

Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, 

have not been early adopted by the Company for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2025. The Group’s assessment 

of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are set out 

below. 

 

AASB 2024-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements Volume 11 

AASB 2024-3 makes amendments to AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards, AASB 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures, AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and AASB 107 Statement 

of Cash Flows. 

 

The main amendments relate to the improvement of consistency and understandability between various accounting 

standards and clarification regarding derecognition of a lease liability upon extinguishment.  

These amending standards mandatorily apply to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2026 and will 

be first applied by the Group in the financial year commencing 1 July 2026. The likely impact of this accounting standard on 

the financial statements of the Group has not been determined. 

 

AASB 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 

AASB 18 replaces AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to improve how entities communicate in their financial 

statements, with a focus on information about financial performance in the profit or loss.  

AASB 18 has also introduced changes to other accounting standards including AASB 108 Basis of Preparation of Financial 

Statements (previously titled Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors), AASB 7 Financial Instruments:  

Disclosures, AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, AASB 133 Earnings Per Share and AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting.  

 

They key presentation and disclosure requirement are: 

(a) the presentation of two newly defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss, and the classification of income and 

expenses into operating, investing and financing categories – plus income taxes and discontinuing operations; 

(b) the disclosure of management-defined performance measures; and 

(c) enhanced requirements for grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) of information.  

 

AASB 18 mandatorily applies to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2027 and will be first applied by 

the Group in the financial year commencing 1 July 2027. The likely impact of this accounting standard on the financial 

statements of the Group has not been determined. 

 

aa) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
  

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates 

and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will 

seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective Notes) within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 

  
Allowance for expected credit losses 
The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the 
lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected 
credit loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience, historical collection rates  and forward-
looking information that is available. The allowance for expected credit losses, as disclosed below, is calculated based on 
the information available at the time of preparation as detailed in Note 23. The actual credit losses in future years may be 
higher or lower.  

 

Income tax 
The Company is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required in 
determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary 
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company recognises liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on the Company's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these 
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matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made as detailed in Note 7. 
 

Share-Based Payments  

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with suppliers and employees by reference to the fair value 

of the goods or services received provided this can be estimated reliably.  If a reliable estimate cannot be made the value of 
the goods or services is determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instrument granted. The fair value 
of the equity instruments granted is determined using the Black-Scholes, Hoadley, Monte Carlo Simulation, or other 

appropriate option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted 
as detailed in Note 22. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would 
have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact 

profit or loss and equity.  

 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Company has applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of 
revenue from contracts with customers. 
 

Revenue from customer contracts is recognised upon satisfaction of a performance obligation under those contracts over 
time. For drilling services provided under contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with a specified unit of production 
based on rates agreed to with the customer (for example meters drilled or hours worked).  For test pumping services 
provided under contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with a specified unit of production based on rates agreed to 
with the customer (for example activity completed or hours worked).  
 
For consultancy services provided under contract, revenue is recognised in accordance with a specified unit of production 
based on rates agreed to with the customer (for example project report completed or hours worked).  

 
For engineering services provided under contract where services are rendered over time, revenue is recognised over time 
based on the percentage of costs incurred to date relative to total expected costs. This approach is used when the contract 

outcome can be reliably measured and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the Company 
performs (for example waste water treatment plant delivered and installed).  

 
Dry Hire revenue is also recognised over a period of time based on set day rates for supply, as the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company. 

 
The sale of goods (consumables) is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods passes to the customer under 
those contracts (for example the sale of certain items including consumables).  

 
Mobilisation/demobilisation revenue are distinct, separately identifiable contractual performance obligations and are 

recognised as revenue upon completion of the mobilisation/demobilisation event, once this performance obligation has 
been satisfied. 
 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation for its property, plant and equipment. The useful 

lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations or other events. The depreciation charge will increase 

where the useful lives are less than previously estimated, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets have been 

abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 

 

Business combinations 

The Group has determined that the acquisitions of Waste Water Services Pty Ltd and CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd 

constitutes a business combination in accordance with the definitions and guidance provided by AASB 3 Business 

Combinations (“AASB 3”) and has provisionally accounted for the acquisitions in accordance with that standard at 30 June 

2025.  

 

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

Goodwill, intangible assets not yet ready for use and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for 

impairment, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired.  
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Goodwill is allocated to a cash generating unit or units (CGU’s) according to management’s expectations regarding which 

assets will be expected to benefit from the synergies arising from the business combination that gave rise to the goodwill. 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is based on value in use calculations.  

 

Impairment of non-financial assets  

All assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date by evaluating whether indicators of impairment exist in relation 

to the continued use of the asset by the Group. Impairment triggers include declining product or manufacturing performance, 

technology changes, adverse changes in the economic or political environment and future product expectations. If an 

indicator of impairment exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Management has determined there is no 

impairment indicators for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are generally grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 

independent cash inflows (‘cash generating units’). Accordingly, most assets are tested for impairment at the cash-generating 

unit level. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit (to which the asset 

belongs) exceeds its recoverable amount. 
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NOTE 3: OPERATING SEGMENTS 

Identification of Reportable Segments 

The Group has identified 4 reportable segments as described below: 

• Industrial: Pentium Hydro Pty Ltd (“Pentium Hydro”) and Pentium Test Pumping Pty Ltd (“PTP”) 

• Technology: Project Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd (“Project Engineering”) and Waste Water Services Pty Ltd (“WWS”) 

• Advisory: Pentium Water Pty Ltd (“Pentium Water”) and CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd (“CMP”).  

• Other: Includes both Vysarn Limited (“Vysarn”) and Vysarn Asset Management Pty Ltd (“VAM”) 

The Group’s reportable segments are based on the differences in the products and services offered by each segment and the 

internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (the chief operating decision makers) in assessing 

performance and in determining the allocation of resources. Vysarn and Vysarn Asset Management have been aggregated in 

to one segment due to the non-material products and services and therefore, external revenues currently provided by these 

entities.  

 

Revenue received from the reportable segments are received solely from external Australian customers. The major results of 

the Group’s reportable segments are consistent with the presentation of these consolidated financial statements.  

 

Note 1: Inclusive of Vysarn Limited’s and Vysarn Asset Management’s corporate overhead.   

 

 

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS 
 

30-June-25 
$ 

30-June-24 
$ 

1. Segmented external revenues    

Industrial   60,497,235 59,256,288 

Technology  25,984,333 11,807,293 

Advisory  20,015,446 4,771,061 

Other  29,195 50,774 

Total  106,526,209 75,885,416 

2. Segmented net profit before tax    

Industrial   7,808,682 9,644,944 

Technology  7,140,366 4,081,670 

Advisory  3,833,104 956,737 

Other 1  (3,753,809) (3,622,957) 

Total  15,028,343 11,060,394 

3. Segmented depreciation and amortisation    

Industrial   5,153,286 4,539,329 

Technology  319,172 7,556 

Advisory  307,644 81,205 

Other   236,476 166,364 

Total  6,016,578 4,794,454 

4. Segmented assets    

Industrial   58,833,375 44,509,037 

Technology  20,631,096 10,302,418 

Advisory  42,703,846 1,120,459 

Other  16,537,326 5,067,631 

Total  138,705,643 65,722,895 
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NOTE 5: OTHER INCOME 

 

  

5. Segmented liabilities    

Industrial   11,509,676 19,577,559 

Technology  6,518,756 2,776,498 

Advisory  3,684,184 736,823 

Other  17,619,598 1,574,439 

Total  39,332,214 24,665,319 

NOTE 4: REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS  

 

30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

    

Revenue recognised over a period of time from contracts with Australian 

customers: 
 

  

- Drilling services and Test Pumping services  48,046,260 48,028,407 

- Engineering services   25,978,160 11,766,161 

- Consultancy services  19,444,974 4,498,190 

- Hire revenue  1,300,945 1,001,100 

- Joint Venture income  24,129 88,248 

Sub-total  94,794,468 65,382,106 

Revenue recognised at a point in time from contracts with Australian 

customers  

 

  

- Sale of goods (consumables)  11,123,038 10,311,285 

- Mobilisation / demobilisation  608,703 192,025 

Sub-total  11,731,741 10,503,310 

Total revenue  106,526,209 75,885,416 

    

  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

Interest income  635,433 83,778 

Fuel tax rebate  22,697 13,889 

Other revenue  565,952 32,005 

Net gain on disposal of assets  71,448 454,845 

Total   1,295,530 584,517 
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NOTE 6: EXPENSES   30-June-25 30-June-24 

Breakdown of expenses by nature:   $ $ 

Administration and corporate expense    

- Office expenses  2,669,879 1,676,695 

- Corporate costs and compliance  2,695,164 2,167,268 

- Other expenses  237,608 75,349 

Total   5,602,651 3,919,312 

 

Employee benefits expense  
  

- Wages and salaries   7,654,273 5,127,476 

- Superannuation  704,573 488,358 

- Employment related taxes  2,143,840 1,401,720 

- Share-based payment expense  557,140 176,564 

- Other employment related expenses  102,257 100,878 

Total  11,162,083 7,294,996 

    

Depreciation and amortisation expense    

- Plant and equipment depreciation  5,312,754 4,365,349 

- Land and buildings lease amortisation  703,824 429,105 

Total  6,016,578 4,794,454 

 

Finance costs  
  

- Interest - borrowings  103,984 285,289 

- Interest - leases  75,797 33,427 

- Bank fees  102,777 148,968 

Total   282,558 467,684 
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NOTE 7: INCOME TAX EXPENSE       

 

 

  

  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

a) Components of income tax expense    

Current tax   2,720,327 2,960,110 

Deferred tax  1,548,591 431,523 

Under / (over) provision in prior period  66,015 (291,749) 

Revaluation of deferred tax position due to change in tax rate  - - 

Income tax expense  4,334,933 3,099,884 

b) Prima facie tax payable    

The prima facie tax payable on profit before income tax is reconciled to 

the income tax expense as follows:  
  

Prima facie income tax payable on profit before income tax at 30% (2024: 

30%)  
4,508,503 3,318,118 

Add / (less) tax effect of:    

Entertainment  31,200 20,546 

Plant and equipment  72,184 - 

Share based payments  216,076 52,969 

Income tax benefit from acquisitions  (687,917) - 

Other non-deductible expenses  128,872 - 

Under / (over) provision in prior period  66,015 (291,749) 

Revaluation of deferred tax position due to change in tax rate  - - 

Income tax expense attributable to profit  4,334,933 3,099,884 

c) Current tax liability     

Current tax relates to the following: 

Current tax liabilities / (assets)  
  

Opening balance  2,960,110 - 

Income tax  2,581,353 2,960,110 

Under / (over) provision in prior period  13,443 - 

Instalments paid  (3,696,739) - 

  1,858,167 2,960,110 
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  30-June-25 30-June-24 

d) Deferred tax  $ $ 

Deferred tax relates to the following: 

Deferred tax assets balance comprises:  
  

Plant and equipment under lease  22,106 9,800 

Accruals  921,925 361,242 

Provisions - annual and long service leave  827,650 250,868 

Borrowing costs  7,604 - 

Capital raising costs  608,708 3,735 

Business related costs  249,000 - 

  2,636,993 625,645 

Deferred tax liabilities balance comprises:    

Prepayments  (128,681) (63,449) 

Accrued income  (1,753,411) (1,357,414) 

Plant and equipment  (6,214,175) (5,489,165) 

Intangible assets  (443,599) - 

Contract fulfillment costs  (1,162,095) - 

  (9,701,961) (6,910,028) 

Net deferred tax  (7,064,968) (6,284,383) 

e) Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly 

to equity    

Decrease / (increase) in deferred tax assets  758,217 1,355 

  758,217 1,355 

f) Deferred income tax (revenue)/expense included in income tax 

expense comprises:    

(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax assets  (269,854) 1,120,750 

Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities  1,818,445 (689,227) 

Under / (over) provision in prior period  66,015 (291,749) 

  1,614,606 139,774 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NO TES TO  THE CO NSO LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR END ED  3 0  JUNE 2 0 2 5  

  

 

42 | Vysarn Limited ABN 41 124 212 175 – Financial Report 30 June 2025 

 

NOTE 8: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company: 

 30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

Remuneration of the auditor of the Company (Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd 

and its related entities) for: 

  

- Auditing or reviewing the financial reports  100,000 73,506 

- Non-audit services – tax compliance 23,500 26,250 

Total 123,500 99,756 

 
 
NOTE 9: EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

Earnings per share for profit / (loss)    

Profit / (loss) after income tax attributes to the owners of Vysarn Limited  10,693,410 7,960,510 

   

 Number Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic 

earnings per share 

 

501,365,056 

 

407,957,684 

Adjustments for the effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares:   

Effect of shares issued on exercise of performance rights 20,000,000 3,333,335 

Effect of shares issued on exercise of options - 10,000,000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 

earnings per share 

 

521,365,056 

 

421,291,019 

   

   

Basic earnings / (loss) per share 0.0213 0.0195 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share 0.0205 0.0189 

   

Accounting policy for earnings per share 

  

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings or loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the owners of the Company, excluding 

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.  

 

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the  

after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 

weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 

ordinary shares. 
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(b) NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 

During the year, the Group issued 10,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon exercise of Managing Director Options, 
3,333,335 fully paid ordinary shares upon exercise of vested performance rights, 10,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares as 
consideration shares to the vendors of CMP, and a further 30,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares as deferred (contingent) 
consideration to the vendors of CMP. Refer to Note 20 for further information. 

  

NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    

 30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

   

Cash at bank 12,957,391 3,731,180 

Total 12,957,391 3,731,180 

   

Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand 

and deposits held at call with financial institutions with a short maturity period of 90 days or less. 

(a) CASH FLOW INFORMATION 30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

Profit after income tax expense for the year 10,693,410 7,960,510 

   

Non-cash flows in result from continuing activities:   

Share based payments expense / (benefit) 557,140 176,564 

Depreciation and amortisation 6,016,578 4,794,454 

(Profit)/ loss on disposal of Plant and Equipment (71,488) (454,845) 

Tax expense / (benefit)  4,334,933 3,099,884 

   

Changes in assets and liabilities:   

(Increase) / decrease in inventories (1,202,510) (2,035,320) 

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (5,174,407) (6,190,606) 

Increase / (decrease) in employee entitlements 2,211,578 222,015 

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 8,711,805 2,066,611 

Increase / (decrease) in other assets and liabilities (8,912,953) 1,883,922 

Net cash provided by operating activities 17,164,126 10,213,381 
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(c) RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows are, or will be, classified as ‘cash flows  from 

financing activities’ in the statement of cash flows. Changes in the carrying amounts of such liabilities, which comprise 
banks loans, deferred consideration for the acquisition of assets and lease liabilities, are summarised below: 

 

 

 

For further information regarding trade and other receivables see Note 23.  

 

Impairment and risk exposure 

No impairment provision was recorded at 30 June 2025 based on management’s assessment. 

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk can be found in Note 23.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Bank loans Contingent 

consideration 

Lease 

liabilities 

 $ $ $ 

   Carrying amount at 1 July 2023 9,702,427 504,983 332,372 

Net cash flows during the year (8,165,888) -          (473,600) 

Non-cash changes  1,303,655 - 723,076 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2024 2,840,194 504,983 581,848 

Net cash flows during the year (2,058,758) - (776,312) 

Non-cash changes  103,733 4,775,763 2,020,441 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2025 885,169 5,280,746 1,825,977 

NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES    30-June-25 30-June-24 

 $ $ 

Trade receivables 21,760,800 16,586,392 

Total 21,760,800 16,586,392 

NOTE 12: INVENTORIES     30-June-25 30-June-24 

 $ $ 

Consumables and spare parts – at cost 7,519,796 6,317,287 

Total 7,519,796 6,317,287 

NOTE 13: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS     30-June-25 30-June-24 

 $ $ 

Contract fulfilment costs 2,793,590 635,199 

Contract Assets 3,209,129 46,156 

Other current assets 1,917,787 880,977 

Total 7,920,506 1,562,332 
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NOTE 14:  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  30-June-25 30-June-24 

 $ $ 

Plant and equipment   

Cost 43,070,255 32,718,202 

Accumulated depreciation (15,398,794) (12,757,532) 

Net carrying amount 27,671,461 19,960,670 

Trucks, trailers and light vehicles   

Cost 18,238,978 16,488,410 

Accumulated depreciation (8,093,215) (6,147,337) 

Net carrying amount 10,145,763 10,341,073 

Office equipment   

Cost 1,597,121 601,383 

Accumulated depreciation (1,129,836) (369,297) 

Net carrying amount 467,285 232,086 

Leasehold improvements   

Cost 156,080 21,214 

Accumulated depreciation (58,776) (17,211) 

Net carrying amount 97,304 4,003 

   

Assets held not ready for use   

Cost 1,988,154 3,045,376 

Net carrying amount 1,988,154 3,045,376 

Total plant and equipment    

Cost 65,050,588 52,874,585 

Accumulated depreciation (24,680,621) (19,291,377) 

Net carrying amount 40,369,967 33,583,208 
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Plant and 
equipment 

Trucks, trailers 
and light 
vehicles 

Office 
Equipment 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

 

Assets Held Not 
Ready for Use Total 

Consolidated Group $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Carrying amount at  

30 June 2023 
20,026,658 8,927,986 169,027 4,208 2,218,204 31,346,083 

Additions  3,264,328 2,957,207 220,940 5,056 827,172 7,274,703 

Disposals  (651,980) (7,065) (13,184) - - (672,229) 

Depreciation 
expense 

(2,678,336) (1,537,055) (144,697) (5,261) - (4,365,349) 

Balance at 30 June 
2024 

19,960,670 10,341,073 232,086 4,003 3,045,376 33,583,208 

       

Carrying amount at  
30 June 2024 

19,960,670 10,341,073 232,086 4,003 3,045,376 33,583,208 

Additions  8,266,193 1,547,242 173,927 - - 9,987,362 

Transfers 1,057,222 - - - (1,057,222) - 

Assets acquired on 
acquisition 

1,848,927 126,818 261,550 121,398 - 2,358,693 

Disposals  (144,386) (141,280) - - - (285,666) 

Depreciation 

expense 

(3,317,165) (1,728,090) (200,278) (28,097) - (5,273,630) 

Balance at 30 June 

2025 

27,671,461 10,145,763 467,285 97,304 1,988,154 40,369,967 

 

(i) Several items of plant and equipment were sold during the period resulting in a gain on disposal of assets of 

$71,448.  

(ii) Assets Held Not Ready for Use represent several assets of plant and equipment that are currently in the process of 

being upgraded or built and are not yet ready for use. 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate . 
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During the year, the Group renewed its lease for workshop and warehouse facility located in Hendeson, Western Australia. 
The lease term was respectively for an initial period of 4 years with an option to extend for a further 4 years. 
 
The Company also renewed its corporate office located in West Perth for an initial period of 3 years with an option to extend 
for a further 3 years. The Group does not have an option to purchase any properties at the end of the lease term. 

 
The Company also renewed its corporate office located in Melbourne for an initial period of 3 years with an option to extend 
for a further 4 years. The Group does not have an option to purchase any properties at the end of the lease term. 

 
Interest expense is recognised within finance costs. Refer to Note 6. 

 

  

NOTE 15:  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITY  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

Right-of-use assets    

Balance at the beginning of the year  549,182   149,041 

Additions  1,955,619 762,733 

Depreciation  (741,733) (369,768) 

Modification to lease terms  (10,779) 7,176 

Balance at the end of the year  1,752,290 549,182 

    

Lease liability    

Balance at the beginning of the year  581,848   186,616 

Additions  1,955,619 762,733 

Interest expense  75,797 32,516 

Modification to lease terms  (10,975) 7,176 

Lease payments  (776,312) (407,192) 

Balance at the end of the year  1,825,977 581,848 

Represented as:     

Current lease liability  768,981 428,691 

Non-current lease liability  1,056,996 153,157 

  1,825,977 581,848 

    

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NO TES TO  THE CO NSO LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR END ED  3 0  JUNE 2 0 2 5  

  

 

48 | Vysarn Limited ABN 41 124 212 175 – Financial Report 30 June 2025 

 

1 The Kariyarra Water Scheme relates to the Company’s joint resource agreement as announced to the ASX on 13 May 

2024. Costs capitalised represent intellectual property of the Group associated with assessing, managing, controlling and 
extracting sustainable quantities of water from identified resources on Kariyarra country. The recoverable amount of other 
intangible assets has been determined on a value-in-use basis, using a cash flow forecast covering the expected life of the 

assets associated and required with the project. Based on this determination, management concluded that there were no 
indicators for impairment, and no impairment loss was identified.  

 

Project Engineering 

The recoverable amount of Project Engineering has been determined on a value-in-use basis, using cash flow forecasts from 

budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period, extrapolated cash flow projections beyond the 5-year budget 
period using an average growth rate in revenues and costs of 8% (2024: 10%) that approximates the long term average growth 

rate for the sector, and a pre-tax discount rate of 11.3% (2024: 9.3%). 

Based on this determination, management concluded that the recoverable amount of Project Engineering was greater than 
its carrying amount at 30 June 2025 and accordingly no impairment loss was identified. 

 

WWS 

The recoverable amount of WWS has been determined on a value-in-use basis, using cash flow forecasts from budgets 
approved by management covering a 5-year period, extrapolated cash flow projections beyond the 5-year budget period 

using a growth rate in revenues and costs of 10% (2024: N/A) that approximates the long term average growth rate for the 
sector, and a pre-tax discount rate of 11.3% (2024: N/A).   

Based on this determination, management concluded that the recoverable amount of  WWS was greater than its carrying 
amount at 30 June 2025 and accordingly no impairment loss was identified. 
 

CMP 

The recoverable amount of CMP has been determined on a value-in-use basis, using cash flow forecasts from budgets 
approved by management covering a 5-year period, extrapolated cash flow projections beyond the 5-year budget period 
using an average growth rate in revenues and costs of 7% (2024: N/A) that approximates the long term average growth rate 
for the sector, and a pre-tax discount rate of 11.3% (2024: N/A). 

Based on this determination, management concluded that the recoverable amount of  CMP was greater than its carrying 
amount at 30 June 2025 and accordingly no impairment loss was identified. 

  

NOTE 16: INTANGIBLE ASSETS Notes 30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

Patents  7,298 8,514 

Kariyarra Water Scheme (1)  2,454,332 975,466 

Goodwill – Project Engineering  2,409,334 2,409,334 

Goodwill – WWS 25 4,930,001 - 

Goodwill - CMP 26 35,980,922 - 

Total  45,781,887 3,393,314 
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The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 23 below. 

  

NOTE 17: BORROWINGS  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Asset finance facilities (a) – at amortised cost  885,169 1,954,925 

Sub-total  885,169 1,954,925 

    

NON-CURRENT    

Asset finance facilities (a) – at amortised cost  - 885,269 

Sub-total  - 885,269 

Total  885,169 2,840,194 

    

a) Asset finance facilities    

The asset finance facilities bear fixed interest at fixed prevailing market rates (ranging from 3.95% to 6.5%) and are 

primarily repayable over 2 to 4 years. The asset finance facilities are secured via a registered GSA over plant and equipment 

which were purchased under the relevant agreements. 

The Group has also provided a general security agreement to the bank in respect of the Group’s existing and future assets. 

 

NOTE 18: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

Trade payables   14,285,296 7,725,073 

GST liability  1,376,115 726,387 

Accruals  1,711,193 806,070 

    

Deferred revenue  154,663 162,539 

Other payables  1,198,491 593,882 

Total  18,725,758 10,013,951 

NOTE 19: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS 

 

 30-June-25 

$ 

30-June-24 

$ 

CURRENT    

Provision for annual leave  1,682,937 705,818 

Provision for long service leave   778,224  - 

Superannuation liability  886,560 643,627 

Payroll liability  46,034  - 

Sub-total  3,393,755  1,349,445 

    

NON-CURRENT    

 

Provision for long service leave  297,674  130,406 

Sub-total  297,674  130,406 

Total  3,691,429  1,479,851 
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Ordinary shares 

During the 12-month period ended 30 June 2025, the Group issued 118,822,300 ordinary shares (30 June 2024: 3,333,333). 

All issued shares are fully paid. 

As per the ASX announcement on 4 July 2024, Mr James Clement exercised his 10,000,000 options through the use of the 

Director Loan.  

3,333,335 performance rights were converted to fully paid ordinary shares and issued to Executive Directors as part of 

Tranche 3 of the Performance Rights Incentive. These performance rights had been expensed in full in the prior periods. 

Upon conversion, the Company transferred the cumulative amount expensed in relation to all Performance Rights 

($575,000) to Retained Earnings.  

95,488,965 shares were issued as part of the Company’s capital raising  to help fund the WWS and CMP acquisitions.  

10,000,000 Acquisition Shares and 30,000,000 Deferred (contingent) Consideration Shares were issued to the vendors of 

CMP, as part of the Company’s acquisition during the year ended 30 June 2025. Refer to Note 26 for further details.  

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the 
company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

 

(b) Movement in Ordinary Capital 

 

  30-June-25 30-June-25 30-June-24 30-June-24 

Ordinary Shares No.  $ No.  $ 

At the beginning of the 
reporting period 

408,622,529 20,024,837 405,289,196 20,029,354 

02-Jul-24 Options exercised 
during the period 

10,000,000 750,000 - - 

27-Aug-24 / 12-Sep-23 
Performance rights vested 

during the period 

3,333,335 - 3,333,333 - 

19 Sep-24 Capital raising 95,488,965 38,195,586 - - 

01-Dec-24 Issue of 
Consideration Shares to the 

vendors of CMP 

10,000,000 4,450,000 - - 

Transaction costs - (1,769,172) - (4,517) 

Total 527,444,829 61,651,251 408,622,529 20,024,837 

 

  

NOTE 20: SHARE CAPITAL  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

(a) Share Capital    

527,444,829 fully paid ordinary shares (30 June 2024: 408,622,529).  

 

61,651,251  20,024,837 
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(b) Movement in Share Based Payment Reserve 
 

  30-June-25 30-June-24 

Share Based Payment Reserve $ $ 

At the beginning of the period 799,775 623,211 

Transfer to retained earnings upon exercise of options and performance rights  (799,775) - 

CMP Deferred Consideration shares (Note 26) 5,438,889 - 

Share based payments 557,140 176,564 

 Total 5,996,029 799,775 

 
The share-based payment reserve is used to record increases in equity arising from equity-settled share-based payment 
arrangements. 

 
Refer to Note 22 below which outlines the movement in the current period’s share-based payment expense.  

 
 
  

NOTE 21: RESERVES  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

(a)  Share Based Payment Reserve    

Nil options on issue (30 June 2024: 10,000,000) and 20,000,000 

performance rights (30 June 2024: 3,333,334) on issue  

557,140 799,775 

30,000,000 Deferred (contingent) Consideration Shares (30 June 2024: nil)  

 

5,438,889 - 
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NOTE 22: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  

 
During the year ended 30 June 2025 the Company recorded the following share-based payments: 

 
Share Issue 
 

10,000,000 shares were issued on the exercise of Mr James Clement’s options. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2025 3,333,335 performance rights were converted to fully paid ordinary shares and issued 
to Executive Directors as part of Tranche 3 of the Performance Rights Incentive. These performance rights had been 
expensed in full in the prior periods.  
 
10,000,000 Acquisition Shares and 30,000,000 Deferred (contingent) Consideration Shares were issued to the vendors of 
CMP, as part of the Company’s acquisition during the year ended 30 June 2025.  Refer to Note 26 for further information. 
 
No further shares were issued during the year ended 30 June 2025. 
 

Options 

No options were issued during the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: NIL).  

On 2 July 2024 Mr James Clement exercised his 10,000,000 Managing Director Options (exercisable at $0.075 per option 

provided Mr James Clement is as an employee of the Company through to their expiry on 5 July 2024) through the use of 
the Director Loan, as approved by shareholders at the 2023 Annual General Meeting. On 28 March 2025, shareholders 
approved to vary the terms of the Director Loan, which was then finalised and signed by Mr James Clement.  

The Company provided Mr James Clement with an interest free loan (“Loan”) of $750,000 (“Loan Funded Shares”) for the 
purpose of funding the exercise of the Managing Director Options. 

Mr James Clement must repay the Loan Balance to the company within 10 business days of the earlier of: 

• three (3) years after the date on which Mr James Clement (and/or his nominee(s)) is issued the Loan Funded 

Shares on exercise of the Managing Director Options (Maturity Date); 

• the date on which Mr James Clement ceases to be employed or engaged by the Group; or 

• where the Board has determined (in its absolute discretion) that Mr James Clement engaged in serious 

misconduct; or 

• the date on which the last Loan Funded Shares held by Mr James Clement are sold.  

 

The Loan is interest free and repayable in 3 years from the date Mr James Clement was issued the Loan Funded Shares (i.e. 

2 July 2027). The receivable balance has therefore been recognised at amortised cost, utilising an interest rate of 8.7% per 
annum. This rate was determined by management to be comparable to similar equity funding arrangements available from 
other finance providers. During the period, an interest free loan benefit of $55,127 was recognised as remuneration to Mr 
James Clement pertaining to this arrangement. As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of the Loan receivable was 
$643,006 

 
Options over equity instruments 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their related parties, is as follows:  

 

30 June 2025 
 

Key Management 
Personnel 

Opening 
balance 

Vested during 
the year 

Granted as 
compensation 

Exercised Closing 
balance 

Peter Hutchinson - - -    - -    

Sheldon Burt - - -    - -    

James Clement 10,000,000 10,000,000 -  (10,000,000) -  

Shane McSweeney - - - - - 

Steve Dropulich - - - - - 

Total  10,000,000   10,000,000   -    (10,000,000)  -    
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30 June 2024 
 

Key Management 

Personnel 

Opening 

balance 

Vested during 

the year 

Granted as 

compensation 

Exercised Closing 

balance 

Peter Hutchinson - - -    - -    

Sheldon Burt - - -    - -    

James Clement 10,000,000 - -  - 10,000,000  

Shane McSweeney - - - - - 

Steve Dropulich - - - - - 

Total  10,000,000   -   -    - 10,000,000 

The weighted average share price in relation to the above options exercised as at the date they were exercised, was $0.28 
per share. 
 
Performance Rights 

During the year ended 30 June 2025, 3,333,335 performance rights vested on 1 July 2024 and were exercised upon vesting 
for $Nil consideration, resulting in the issue of 3,333,335 fully paid ordinary shares. The conditions for Tranche 3 of the 
prior period performance rights were successfully met and expensed in full in prior period.  

 
Upon their exercise, the cumulative amount expensed in relation to all historical Performance Rights was transferred to 

Retained Earnings.   

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company issued 20,000,000 “executive performance rights” in three tranches as 

performance incentives for Executive Directors and Management.  

As at 30 June 2025, 20,000,000 performance rights were on issue and outstanding. Each performance right will convert on a 

1:1 basis to fully paid ordinary shares upon achievement of their relevant vesting conditions (refer below).  

Vesting of the performance rights is subject to achievement of vesting conditions as follows: 

 

Tranche Number of Performance Rights on 

Issue

Condition Test Date Vesting Condition for each respective 

Tranche 

1 6,666,667 30 June 2027 • Employment condition,  
and meeting either of the; 

 

• Cumulative EPS condition; or 

• Volume weighted average price of 
shares condition   

   

2 6,666,667 30 June 2028 

3 6,666,667 30 June 2029 

Where the: 

• Employment condition – means the holder of the rights remains employed by the Company at the condition test 

date;  

• Cumulative EPS condition – means the average annualised earnings per share (EPS) of the Company over the 

three periods ending on the Condition Test Date is at least A$0.0251 for Tranche 1, at least $0.0289 for Tranche 2 

and at least $0.0332 for Tranche 3; and 

• Volume weighted average price of shares condition - The volume weighted average price of Shares trading on the 

ASX in the ordinary course of trade (VWAP) of at least (“Barrier Price”)  $0.51 for Tranche 1, $0.59 for Tranche 2 and 

$0.67 for Tranche 3 over 5 consecutive trading days (on which Shares have actually traded) at any time during the 

90-day period commencing on the day immediately after the Condition Test Date. 

 

Movements in performance rights 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of performance rights in the Company held, directly, indirectly or 

beneficially, by each key management personnel, including their related parties, is as follows: 
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30 June 2025 

Key Management 
Personnel 

Opening 
balance 

Granted as 
compensation 

Vested and 
exercised during 

the year 

Closing balance Unvested and 
not exercisable 

at the end of the 
year 

2025 No.  No.  No.  No.  No. 

Peter Hutchinson -    -    -    -    -    

Sheldon Burt 1,666,667    -    (1,666,667)    -    -    

James Clement 1,666,668  6,000,000    (1,666,668)  6,000,000    6,000,000    

Shane McSweeney -  6,000,000     -  6,000,000     6,000,000     

Steve Dropulich -  6,000,000    -  6,000,000    6,000,000    

Other Executive -  2,000,000 -  2,000,000 2,000,000 

 Total 3,333,335    20,000,000    (3,333,335)    20,000,000    20,000,000    

 

30 June 2024 

 

Key 
Management 
Personnel 

 Opening 

balance 

Granted 
as 

compen
sation 

Vested and 
exercised 

during 

the year 

Closing 

balance 

Vested 
during 

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

at the end 
of the year 

2024  No.  No.  No.  No.  No.  No. 

Peter 
Hutchinson 

 -    -    -    -    -    - 

James 
Clement 

 3,333,334                      -    1,666,666    1,666,668  1,666,668                       1,666,668 

Sheldon Burt  3,333,334    -    1,666,667   1,666,667  1,666,667             1,666,667  

 Total  6,666,668    -    3,333,333    3,333,335 3,333,335    3,333,335 

 
The executive performance rights have been valued using a Parisian Barrier in parallel with a Monte Carlo Simulation, 
utilising the following inputs: 
 

Valuation Inputs Tranche 1 Tranche 2  Tranche 3  

Valuation Date 28-Mar-25 28-Mar-25 28-Mar-25 

Spot Price $0.49 $0.49 $0.49 

Barrier Price $0.51 $0.59 $0.67 

Parisian Barrier Price $0.56 $0.64 $0.73 

Condition Test Date 30-Jun-27 30-Jun-28 30-Jun-29 

Vesting Period (Yrs)                  2.26                           3.26                           4.26  

Expiry Date 28-Mar-30 28-Mar-30 28-Mar-30 

Expected Volatility *  40% 40% 40% 

Risk Free Rate 3.94% 3.94% 3.94% 

Dividend Yield  Nil   Nil   Nil  

Value per executive performance right 

             

0.3378                       0.3231                       0.3228  
 
Number of executive performance rights issued per 

tranche    6,666,667             6,666,667          6,666,667  

Valuation 
        

$2,252,000  
                

$2,154,000  
                

$2,152,000  
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* Volatility was determined with reference to the Company’s historical volatility for a comparative vesting period prior to 

the valuation date. 
 
The executive performance rights will be brought to account over the expected vesting period to which they relate. As a 

result, $557,140 in share-based payments was recorded as an expense in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income during the year ended 30 June 2025 in relation to performance rights  (30 June 2024: $41,700).  

  
Share Based Payments Expense 

 

Share based payment expense is comprised as follows: 

  30-June-25 30-June-24 

  $ $ 

Options  - 134,864 

Performance rights   557,140 41,700 

Total share-based payments expense  557,140 176,564 

 

 
NOTE 23: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS & FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

Fair values 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based 

on the following methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the Notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 

(i) Fair value of financial instruments 

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments approximate their fair value. The carrying amounts 
of trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The 
fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 

interest rate that is available for similar financial instruments. 
 

(ii) Fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments carried at fair value are determined by valuation level, as determined in accordance with the relevant 
accounting standard.  The different levels have been defined as: 

 
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  
 
There have been no transfers between levels during the current or prior year.  
 
With respect to specific financial assets and liabilities, the following valuation methods have been used: 
 
• Contingent consideration payable is carried at fair value and has been determined by discounting the cash flows, at 

market rates of similar borrowings, to their present value. The probability weighted pay-out method has been utilised 

by Management to determine the best estimate of expected cashflows arising as a result of the arrangement. 

 

All financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.  Other assets and other 

liabilities approximate their carrying value.  The carrying amount of all financial assets and financial liabilities approxim ate 
their fair value at reporting date.  
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The table below illustrates the impact on profit before tax based upon expected volatility of the Company’s share price on 

the fair value of CMP’s deferred consideration.  

 

 

 
30-June-25 30-June-24 

+/-  5% share price movement   $ $ 

Impact on profit after tax  (264,927) - 

Impact on equity  (264,787) - 

 
Financial risk management objectives 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Company.  The Company uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed.  
 
This Note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 
 
Risk management framework 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.  
Due to the size of the Group, and its low nature of risk with respect to financial risk management, the Board is of the 
opinion that there is no need to establish a Risk Management Committee for developing and monitoring risk management 

policies.   
 
Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits  

and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.  The Group, through its training and management 

standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations. 
 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates  and interest rates will affect the 

Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 
 

Foreign currency risk 

The Company is not exposed to any significant foreign currency risk. The Group is exposed to currency risk on 
administration costs, purchases of spare parts and plant and equipment that are denominated in New Zealand dollars (NZD) 
and US dollars (USD). The Group does not use currency hedging for administration expenses as the receipts in NZD and USD 
are used to meet the liability obligations of the Group entities denominated in NZD and USD.   
 
The use of currency hedging for exposures relating to spare parts and plant and equipment purchases are assessed on a 
case by case basis. As at 30 June 2025, the Group is exposed to currency risk on administration costs, purchases of spare 
parts and plant and equipment that are denominated in New Zealand dollars (NZD) and US dollars (USD). During the 
financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Group did not enter into any forward foreign currency contracts. 

 

Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting pe riod 
whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments .  
The Group is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments. 

 
The financial instruments which primarily expose the Group to interest rate risk are borrowings and cash and cash 
equivalents.  The Group manages its exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings by using a mix of fixed and 
floating rate debt. The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short term deposits.  The Directors 

monitor the Group’s cash position relative to the expected cash requirements.  Where appropriate, surplus funds are 
placed on deposit earning higher interest.   
 
The Company’s only exposure to interest rate risk is in relation to deposits held. Deposits are held with reputable banking 
financial institutions. 
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Profile 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s variable interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

 

Variable rate instruments Carrying Amount 

30-June-25 

($) 

30-June-24 

($) 

Financial assets   

Cash at bank 12,957,391 3,731,180 

   

Financial liabilities   

Borrowings - (100) 

Total 12,957,391 3,731,080 

 

The table below illustrates the impact on profit before tax based upon expected volatility of interest rates using market date 

and analysis forecasts.  

 

  30-June-25 30-June-24 

+/- 50 basis points  $ $ 

Impact on profit after tax  64,787 18,655 

Impact on equity  64,787 18,655 

 

Operational risk  
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks 

such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.  
Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations. 
 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.  The 
primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior 
management within each business unit.   
 
This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group standards for the management of operational risk in 
the following areas: 
 

• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions; 

• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 

• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

• Documentation of controls and procedures; 

• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the competency of personnel, adequacy 

of controls and risk management procedures to address the risks identified; 

• Training and professional development; 

• Ethical and business standards; and 

• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective. 

  
Capital management  

The Board’s policy is to maintain adequate capital so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business.  
 
The Group’s debt and capital structure includes ordinary share capital and loans and borrowings. The Group is not subject 

to externally imposed capital requirements.  Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s 
financial risk and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses 
include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues. 

 
The Group’s debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NO TES TO  THE CO NSO LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR END ED  3 0  JUNE 2 0 2 5  

  

 

58 | Vysarn Limited ABN 41 124 212 175 – Financial Report 30 June 2025 

 

 

Capital Management 30-June-25 
($) 

30-June-24 
($) 

Total liabilities 39,332,214 24,665,319 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (12,957,391) (3,731,180) 

Net debt 26,374,823 20,934,139 

   
 

Total capital 99,373,429 41,057,576  

Debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the period 0.27 0.51 

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.   

 

Management has established a credit policy under which each new customer and counterparties to transactions are analysed 

individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The 

Group’s review includes the use of external ratings, when available. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for 

impairment.   

 

Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit rating  at least “A-“. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual credit characteristics of each customer. 100% of 

revenue is attributable to Australian entities.   

Details with respect to credit risk of trade and other receivables are provided below. Trade and other receivables that are 

neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed below.  

 

Impairment of financial assets 
The Group hold trade receivables that are subject to the expected credit loss model. While cash and cash equivalents are 
also subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.  

 
Trade receivables  
The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring the expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables. The expected credit losses have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. 

 
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward- looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 

 
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 30 June 2025 was determined as follows for trade receivables: 

 
1-July-24 Current < 30 31 - 60 61 - 120 > 120 Total 

($) 

Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 1%   

Gross carrying amount - trade 
receivables 

 
16,555,553 

       
16,551,634   

 
3,919 

 
30,839 

             
-    

 
16,586,392 

Loss allowance -    -    -    -    -    - 

              
30-June-25 Current < 30 31 - 60 61 - 120 > 120 Total 

($) 

Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 1%  

Gross carrying amount - trade 
receivables 

19,553,091 16,850,987 2,702,104 2,207,709 - 21,760,800 

Loss allowance -                   -    -    -    -    - 

 
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the 
Group and failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due.  
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Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item. The Group has not recognised any 
impairment losses recognised in the statement of profit or loss as at 30 June 2025 arising from contracts with customers. 

The Group’s receivables primarily consist of Tier 1/Tier 2 Mining companies, utilities and government water authorities on 
30-day net terms with no noted debtor payment issues to date since commencement of current activities. 
 

Exposure to credit risk 
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The credit risk on liquid funds 
is limited because the counterparties are banks with a minimum credit rating of AA assigned by reputable credit rating 
agencies. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 
Exposure to credit risk 30-June-25 

($) 
30 -June-24 

($) 

Cash and cash equivalents - AA Rated 12,957,391 3,731,180 

Trade receivables 21,760,800 16,586,392 

Total 34,718,191 20,317,572 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risks arises from the possibility that the Company might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise meeting 

its obligation related to financial liabilities. Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Company to maintain sufficient 

liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.  

 

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and continuously monitoring actual and forecast 

cash flows. 

 
Remaining contractual maturities 

The following tables detail the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables 

have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 

financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 

contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

 

 

 

 

30 June 2025 

1 year or less 

 

 

$ 

Between 1 

and 2 years 

 

$ 

Between 2 

and 5 years 

 

$ 

Over 5 

years 

 

$ 

Total Remaining 

contractual  

cash flows 

$ 

Non-derivatives      

Interest bearing      

Borrowings 904,260 - - - 904,260 

Lease liability 785,468 1,091,202 91,061 - 1,967,731 

Non-interest bearing      

Trade and other payables 18,725,758 - - - 18,725,758 

Contingent consideration - 2,855,098 2,425,648 - 5,280,746 

Total non-derivatives  20,415,486 3,946,300 2,516,709 - 26,878,495 

      

30 June 2024      

Non-derivatives      

Interest bearing      

Borrowings 2,058,858 904,260  - - 2,963,118 

Lease liability 448,883   155,078 - -  603,961 

Non-interest bearing      

Trade and other payables  10,013,951 - - - 10,013,951 

Contingent consideration 250,000 254,983 - - 504,983 

Total non-derivatives   12,771,692 1,314,231  - - 14,086,013 
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NOTE 24: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

As detailed in Note 22, during the year ended 30 June 2025, 10,000,000 options were exercised by Mr James Clement 

through the use of the Director Loan. Additionally, 3,333,335 ordinary shares were issued to the Directors as a result of a 

number of Performance Rights vesting, and executive performance right were issued as long term incentives to certain 

members of key management personnel. 

 

(a) Individual Directors and executives compensation disclosures 

 

Information regarding individual Directors and executives’ compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as 

permitted by Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ Report. 

Apart from the details disclosed in this Note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Group since the end 

of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving Directors’ interests existing at year-end. 

 

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Company are set out in the following tables.  

 Short-term benefits Post-

employment 
Equity  

 Short-term 
salary, fees & 
commissions 

STI 
cash 

bonus 

Non-
monetary 

benefits 

Other 
employee 
benefits5 

Post-
employment 

superannuation 

Share-
based 

payments 

Total 

 

2025 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Chairman        

Peter 
Hutchinson 

108,108 - - - 12,432 - 120,540 

Non-Executive 
Directors 

       

Sheldon Burt2,3 40,000 - - - - - 40,000 

Executive 

Directors 
       

James Clement1, 

2,4 
470,068 200,000 29,633 55,127 29,932 167,142 951,902 

Sheldon Burt2, 3 100,000 - - - - - 100,000 

Shane 
McSweeney2,6 

111,490 - - - 12,472 167,142 291,104 

Steve 
Dropulich2,6 

139,612 - - - 12,472 167,142 319,226 

Total  969,278 200,000 29,633 55,127 67,308 501,426 1,822,772 

1 The amount of $29,633 disclosed as a non-monetary benefit for Mr Clement is a salary sacrificed amount pertaining to a 
novated lease on a motor vehicle.   
2 Refer to Note 22 for further information pertaining to share-based payment expenses recognised for key management 
personnel. 

3 As at 1 November 2024 Mr Burt transitioned from Executive Director to Non-Executive Director of Vysarn Limited. Mr 

Burt’s Director fees were paid to Connada Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by Mr Burt.   
4 Mr Clement’s total remuneration increased on 1 January 2025.   

5 Relates to benefit received by Mr Clement in the form of an interest free loan to execute his Managing Director Options. 
fer to section 7 of the Remuneration Report for further information. 

6 The remuneration summary of Shane McSweeney and Steve Dropulich are effective from the date they became key 
management personnel (KMP), being the date of the Directorship appointments on 3 February 2025. 
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(b)  Subsidiaries 

 

All inter-company loans are eliminated on consolidation and are interest free with no set repayment terms.   

 

(c) Other key management personnel and director transactions 

 

Purchases from and sales to related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.  

 

Some Directors hold or have held positions in other companies, where it is considered they control or significantly influence  

the financial or operating policies of those entities.  

 

There were no other purchases from or sales to related parties during the year (2024: $Nil).  
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NOTE 25:  ACQUISITION OF WASTE WATER SERVICES PTY LTD  

 

Summary of Business Combination 

On 30 August 2024 the Company entered into a binding Share Sale Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the issued 
capital of Waste Water Services Pty Ltd (“WWS”). Under the terms of the acquisition, the Company acquired 100% of the 
issued shares in WWS for cash consideration of $7,500,000, adjusted for post working capital adjustments (“WWS 
Transaction”). The Company assumed control of the trading activities of Waste Water Services with effect from 1 
September 2024.  
 
WWS is an Australian company and the WWS Transaction was in line with the Company’s vertical integration growth 

strategy in water and infrastructure services and will help to organically grow the Company’s existing service offerings 
through the design, manufacture, installation and maintenance of wastewater treatment plants, potable water treatment 
plants and pumping stations. 

 
Having reviewed the terms of the WWS Transaction, the Company has concluded that the WWS Transaction is most 
accurately reflected as a business combination for accounting purposes as per the definitions and requirements of AASB 3. 
Details of the purchase consideration and assigned fair value of assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:  

 

(i) The WWS Transaction has been provisionally accounted for as at 30 June 2025. The WWS Transaction 

achieved practical completion in August 2024. The Group is continuing to assess the fair value of assets and  

other current liabilities assumed. 

 

(ii) The goodwill on acquisition comprises over 25 years of waste water treatment designs of manufactured 

specialised products, installation and maintenance of waste water, aswell as synergies from joining the 

broader Vysarn group in water and infrastructure services. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.  

 

(iii) Acquisition-related costs of $100,530 are recognised in profit or loss, and are included in Administration and 

corporate expense. 

 

Since the acquisition date, WWS has contributed revenue of $14,387,685 and profit before tax of $3,828,767 which is 
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  
 
  

  30-Jun-25 
  $ 

a) Purchase Consideration    
Cash paid (net of working capital adjustments)  6,602,916 

Total consideration paid  6,602,916 

   
b) Fair Value of Net Tangible Assets   

Trade receivables  1,164,786 
Other current assets  599,026 
Plant and equipment  1,975,745 

Other non-current assets  507,266 
Trade and other payables  (1,025,922) 
Other current liabilities  (950,749) 

Provisions  (256,587) 
Deferred tax liability  (340,650) 

Total   1,672,915 

   
c) Goodwill   

Excess of consideration over fair value of net assets acquired  4,930,001 
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NOTE 26:  ACQUISITION OF CMP CONSULTING GROUP PTY LTD 

 

Summary of Business Combination 

On 13 September 2024 the Company entered into a binding Share Sale Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the issued 
capital of CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd (“CMP”). Under the terms of the acquisition, the Company acquired 100% of the 
issued shares in CMP for an upfront consideration of $24,000,000 cash and 10,000,000 Vysarn shares, adjusted for post 
working capital and net debt adjustments (“CMP Transaction”). Further, deferred consideration of up to 30,000,000 Vysarn 
shares over three years subject to the achievement of EBITDA performance metrics.  
 
The Company assumed control of the trading activities of CMP with effect from 1 December 2024.  

 
CMP is an Australian company and the CMP Transaction was in line with the Company’s vertical integration growth strategy 
in water and infrastructure services and will help to organically grow the Company’s existing service offering in water 

consulting engineering on the east coast through strategic planning, design and construction, asset management and 
maintenance.  
 
Having reviewed the terms of the CMP Transaction, the Company has concluded that the CMP Transaction is most 
accurately reflected as a business combination for accounting purposes as per the definitions and requirements of AASB 3. 

Details of the provisionally accounted for purchase consideration and assigned fair value of assets and liabilities acquired 
are as follows: 

 

* The fair value of ordinary shares issued as consideration has been determined with reference to the Company’s share 
price as at the effective date of control of CMP. 
 

(i) The CMP Transaction has been provisionally accounted for as at 30 June 2025. The CMP Transaction 

achieved practical completion in December 2024. The Group is continuing to assess the fair value of assets 

acquired including existence of other intangible assets. 

 
(ii) The goodwill on acquisition comprises a comprehensive water engineering skillset across the complete 

lifecycle of solutions encompassing every aspect of water engineering, including potable water treatment 

and distribution, wastewater transfer and treatment, and resource recovery and recycled water treatment 

and distribution. The goodwill also includes synergies from joining the broader Vysarn group and 

opportunities in water and infrastructure services. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.  

 

  

  30-June-25 
  $ 

d) Purchase Consideration    
Cash paid (net of working capital adjustments)  23,059,013 
*Acquisition Shares  4,450,000 

*Deferred (contingent) Consideration Shares (v)  9,236,302 
*Additional Deferred (contingent) Consideration Shares (v)  1,483,333 
Fair value consideration  38,228,648 

   
e) Fair Value of Net Tangible Assets   

Trade receivables  1,858,630 
Other current assets  3,626,047 

Plant and equipment  382,948 
Deferred tax assets  473,860 
Trade and other payables  (765,994) 

Other current liabilities  (2,028,656) 
Provisions  (1,299,109) 
Total   2,247,726 

   
f) Goodwill   

Excess of consideration over fair value of net assets acquired  35,980,922 
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(iii) Acquisition-related costs of $329,043 are recognised in profit or loss and are included in Administration and 

corporate expense. 

 

(iv) Since the acquisition date, CMP has contributed revenue of $15,001,728 and profit before tax of $2,738,723 

which is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

(v) As consideration for the acquisition of CMP, the Company agreed to issue up to 30,000,000 Shares (Deferred 

Consideration Shares) to the Vendors of CMP. The Deferred Consideration Shares will be issued upon 

achievement of the following Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) targets 

for each respective period (“Earn Out Period”). 

 

Earn Out Period EBITDA Target Shares to be issued 

The period commencing on the Completion Date and ending on the 12 

month anniversary date following the Completion Date (“Year 1”)  

$5,500,000 8,888,889 

The period commencing on the day following the First Anniversary Date 

and ending on the 24 month anniversary date following the Completion 

Date (Second Anniversary Date) (“Year 2”)* 

$6,000,000 8,888,889 

The period commencing on the day following the Second Anniversary 

Date and ending on the 36 month anniversary date following the 

Completion Date (“Year 3”)* 

$6,500,000 8,888,889 

Cumulative EBITDA for CMP for Year 1, Year 2 and Year 3 is equal to or 

greater than $18,000,000 

$18,000,000 3,333,333 

 
* If the EBITDA Target is not reached for Year 2 or Year 3, but the EBITDA for CMP for each of Year 2 and Year 3 is equal to 

or greater than $5,000,000 and the cumulative EBITDA for CMP for Year 2 and Year 3 is equal to or greater than 
$12,500,000, the Company will issue the Deferred Consideration Shares that were not issued for Year 2 or Year 3 because 

the EBITDA Target for that year was not reached. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards require the Group to assess whether the Deferred Consideration Shares meet the 

definition of a financial liability, or are accounted for as equity arrangements. The Group has assessed and determined that 
the Year 2 and Year 3 Earn Out Periods collectively constitute a financial liability, as a result of the variable number of 
shares to be issued under the arrangement.  

 
As such, the Group has recorded a Contingent consideration payable liability of $5,280,746 at 30 June 2025 in relation to 

the Year 2 and Year 3 Earn Out Periods. The Group has initially recognised this liability at fair value and subsequently will 
remeasure its fair value at each reporting period with changes recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss. $5,280,746 
was recognised as Contingent Consideration Payable on acquisition in relation to these shares granted.  There was no 

material movement recognised in the fair value of contingent consideration payable for the period from the date of 
acquisition (1 December 2024), to 30 June 2025. 
 
The contingent consideration associated with Year 1 and the Cumulative EBITDA Earn Out Period has been accounted for as 
an equity transaction. $5,438,889 was recognised within the Share Based Payment Reserve in relation to these shares 
granted. Refer to Note 22 for further information. 
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NOTE 27: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

 

  

Financial Position 30 June  

2025 

($) 

30 June  

2024 

($) 

Assets       

 Current assets    22,071,939 7,685,373 

 Non-current assets    44,358,831 3,288,501 

Total Assets   66,430,770 10,973,874 

     
 

Liabilities    
 

 Current liabilities    4,529,565 689,904 

 Non-current liabilities    12,856,500 847,089 

Total Liabilities   17,386,065 1,536,993 

     
 

Net Assets   49,044,705 9,436,881 

     
 

Equity    
 

 Share capital    61,651,251 20,024,837 

 Reserves    5,996,029 799,775 

 Retained losses    (18,602,575) (11,387,731) 

Total Equity   49,044,705 9,436,881 

 
Financial Performance 30 June  

2025 
($) 

30 June  
2024 

($) 

Loss for the year (before tax) (3,679,685) (3,565,749) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive (loss) (3,679,685) (3,565,749) 

 

Guarantees provided in relation to subsidiaries 

The Company provides a parent-company guarantee in respect to finance facilities established by the Company’s operating 

entities.     
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NOTE 28: CONTROLLED ENTITIES  

 

The ultimate legal parent entity of the Group is Vysarn Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  The consolidated 

financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 

accounting policies described above. 

 

Controlled Entities Country of Incorporation Percentage Owned 

 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Pentium Hydro Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100% 

Pentium Test Pumping Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Pentium Water Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Project Engineering (WA) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Vysarn Asset Management Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Waste Water Services Pty Ltd Australia 100% Nil 

CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd Australia 100% Nil 

 
 
NOTE 29: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
The Directors are not aware of any other commitments or any contingent liabilities that may arise from the Group’s 
operations as at 30 June 2025. 

 
NOTE 30: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 

The Company released the following material ASX announcement post 30 June 2025:   

Hazen Heads of Agreement. 

On 25 July 2025, the Group announced CMP had entered into a Heads of Agreement (“HOA”) with Hazen and Sawyer D.P.C.  

Under the terms of the HOA, CMP and Hazen will work collaboratively to identify and deliver water infrastructure projects 

within Australia. The HOA also provides for reciprocal opportunities for CMP to subcontract engineering consulting services 

to Hazen for delivery of United States domiciled water infrastructure projects. 

There were no other matters or circumstance that has arisen since 30 June 2025 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Group’s operations, the results of those operations or the Company’s state of affairs in future fina ncial 

years. 
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Vysarn Limited is required by Australian Accounting Standards to prepare consolidated financial statements in relation to the 
company and its controlled entities (the “Group”). 

In accordance with subsection 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001, this consolidated entity disclosure statement provides  
information about each entity that was part of the Group at the end of the financial year. 

 

Name of entity Type of entity 

Place formed 
or 
incorporated 

Percentage of 

share capital 
held 
(if applicable) 

Australian tax 

resident or 
foreign tax 
resident 

Foreign tax 
jurisdiction 
(if applicable) 

Vysarn Limited Body corporate Australia N/A Australian N/A 

Pentium Hydro 
Pty Ltd  

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

Pentium Test 
Pumping Pty 
Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

Pentium Water 
Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

Project 
Engineering 

(WA) Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

Vysarn Asset 
Management 
Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

Waste Water 
Services Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

CMP 
Consulting 

Group Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A 

At the end of the financial year, no entity within the consolidated entity was a trustee of a trust within the consolidated entity, 

a partner in a partnership within the consolidated entity, or a participant in a joint venture within the consolidated entit y.
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James Clement 

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Dated 21 August 2025 

 

In the opinion of the Directors of Vysarn Limited: 

1.  The financial statements and Notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 (a) Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its performance for 

the financial year ended on that date; and 

 (b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) , 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

2. The consolidated entity disclosure statement required by subsection 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001 is true and 

correct. 

3.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 

due and payable. 

4. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 

 from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the 

Directors by: 
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VYSARN LIMITED 
ABN 41 124 212 175 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 
 
 
 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Vysarn Limited (the “Company”) and its controlled entities 
(the “Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy 
information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement and the directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of 
its financial performance for the year then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) “the Code” that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

 

Adelaide  |  Brisbane  |  Melbourne  |  Newcastle  |  Perth  |  Sydney

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members 

of which are separate and independent legal entities.
pitcher.com.au .

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd
An independent Western Australian Company ABN 76 601 361 095. 
Level 11, 12-14 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000
Registered Audit Company Number 467435.
Liability limited by a scheme under Professional Standards Legislation.
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VYSARN LIMITED 
ABN 41 124 212 175 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 
 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Revenue recognition 

Refer to Note 2(p), Note 4 and Note 13 of the 
Financial Report 

 

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group 
had revenue of $106,526,209 from contracts 
with customers for its hydrogeological 
drilling, test pumping, reinjection water 
services, water consultancy and waste water 
business activities and contract assets of 
$3,208,911 goods/services yet to be 
invoiced (accrued revenue). 

 

In addition, the Group tracks a number of 
costs associated with contracts with 
customers through its contract fulfillment 
costs. As at 30 June 2025, contract 
fulfillment costs amounted to $2,793,590. 

 

The determination of revenue recognition 
requires Management judgements in 
accounting for revenue, obligations, 
discounts, incentives and rebates in 
accordance with the Group’s identified 
performance obligations as part of the 
transaction, as required under AASB 15 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
(“AASB 15”). 

 

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 

Understanding and evaluating the design and 
implementation of the relevant controls 
associated with the treatment of revenue, 
contract assets, and contract fulfillment costs, 
including, but not limited to, those relating to 
identification of performance obligations, 
discounts, incentives and rebates.  

 

Testing the operating effectiveness of relevant 
controls around revenue, contract fulfillment 
costs, such as the review and approval of 
progress claims and invoices by customers. 

 
Reviewing significant new contracts to 
understand their terms and conditions, 
including specified performance obligations 
included within and whether Managements’ 
assessment for recognition of revenue, 
contract assets, and contract fulfilment costs 
under these contract terms, is in accordance 
with AASB 15. 

 

Testing a sample of transactions for each 
revenue stream, by sighting evidence of signed 
contracts, related invoices and comparing the 
revenue, contract asset, and contract fulfilment 
cost amount recognised to the timing of when 
the Group satisfies performance obligations 
associated with the transaction in accordance 
with AASB 15. 

 

Assessing the entitlement and recoverability for 
a sample of transactions within contract assets, 
evaluating their consistency and the basis of 
Management’s approach for determining 
amounts recognised, understanding and 
corroborating key assumptions made, and 
recalculating contract assets recognised. 

Considering the adequacy of the disclosures 
included within the financial report. 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y

matt.power@vysarn.com.au
Typewritten text
70



 
 

VYSARN LIMITED 
ABN 41 124 212 175 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 

 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Recoverability of Non-current assets 

Refer to Note 2(h) - 2(j), Note 14-16, Note 
25 and Note 26 of the financial report  

 

Included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2025 is 
an amount of $88,547,150 relating to 
non-current assets. This amount 
represents 64% of total assets. 
$45,781,887 of this amount relates to 
intangible assets, including goodwill 
acquired in business combinations. 

AASB 136 Impairment of Assets (“AASB 
136”) requires an entity to test non-
current assets where there are indicators 
of impairment and to test goodwill 
acquired in a business combination for 
impairment annually. 

The evaluation of the recoverable 
amount of the Group’s cash generating 
units (‘CGUs) requires significant 
Management judgement in determining 
the key assumptions and estimates, 
including but not limited to: 

▪ growth rate assumptions; and 
▪ discount factors 

supporting the expected future cash 
flows of the business and the utilisation of 
the relevant assets. 

Due to the significance to the Group’s 
financial report and the level of 
Management judgment involved in 
assessing the recoverable amount of the 
Group’s CGUs, we consider this to be a 
key audit matter 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

Understanding and evaluating the design and 
implementation of the relevant controls associated with 
the recognition of non-current assets including 
capitalisation of expenditure and the identification of the 
CGUs. 

 

Reviewing management’s evaluation and judgement as 
to whether the costs capitalised to intangibles are in 
development phase where probable future economic 
benefits could be determined.  

 

Testing the operating effectiveness of relevant controls 
around expenditure capitalised as non-current assets, 
such as the review and approval of expenditures as per 
delegation of authority, capital improvement approvals 
forms and other supporting documentation. 

 

Assessing Management’s determination of the Group’s 
CGUs based on our understanding of the nature of the 
Group’s businesses and how independent cash flows are 
derived.  

 

Evaluating and assessing the Group’s assessment for 
impairment indicators associated with its non-current 
assets for each of it’s CGUs. 

 

Critically evaluating and challenging the methodology and 
key assumptions around revenue and cost projections of 
management in their preparation of forecast models of the 
CGU encompassing goodwill and other intangible assets 
at 30 June 2025. 

 

Checking the mathematical accuracy of forecast models 
and agreeing what has been provided to the latest Board 
approved forecasts and performing sensitivity analysis 
around discount rate and growth rate. 

 

Assessing the Group’s accounting policy and disclosures 
within the financial report. 
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ABN 41 124 212 175 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 
 
 

 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Share-based Payments 

Refer to Note 2(t) and 22 of the Financial 
Report 

 

At 30 June 2025, a share-based payment 
expense of $557,140 has been recorded. 
Share-based payments involve significant 
Management estimates and judgement in 
their determination.   

 

Share-based payments must be recorded at 
fair value of the service provided, or in the 
absence of such, at the fair value of the 
underlying equity instrument granted.  In 
calculating the fair value there are a number 
of management judgements including but 
not limited to: 

• Assessing the probability of 
achieving key performance 
milestones in relation to vesting 
conditions; and 

• Assessing the fair value of the share 
price on grant date, estimate of 
expected future share price volatility, 
expected dividend yield and risk-free 
rate of interest. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 

Understanding and evaluating the design and 
implementation of the relevant controls 
associated with the preparation of the 
valuation model used to assess the fair value 
of share-based payments, including in 
relation to volatility of the underlying security 
and the appropriateness of the model used 
for valuation. 

 

Critically evaluating and challenging the 
methodology and assumptions of 
management in their preparation of valuation 
model, including management’s assessment 
of likelihood of vesting, agreeing inputs to 
internal and external sources of information 
as appropriate. 

 

Assessing the independence, competence 
and experience of the external valuation 
experts contracted by the Group to determine 
if we can place reliance on their valuations 
performed. 

 

Assessing the appropriateness of share-
based payment expensed during the year 
pursuant to the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards AASB 2 Share-based 
Payment (“AASB 2”). 

 

Assessing the Group’s accounting policy and 
disclosures within the financial report. 
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TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 
 

 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Acquisition of Waste Water Services Pty Ltd 

Refer to Note 2(aa) and 25 of the Financial 
Report 

 

On 30 August 2024 the Company entered 
into a binding Share Sale Agreement for the 
acquisition of 100% of the issued capital of 
Waste Water Services Pty Ltd (“WWS”). 
Under the terms of the acquisition, the 
Company acquired 100% of the issued 
shares in WWS for cash consideration of 
$7,500,000, adjusted for post working capital 
adjustments (“WWS Transaction”).  

 

The Company assumed control of the trading 
activities of Waste Water Services with effect 
from 1 September 2024.  

 

In undertaking the provisional business 
combination accounting, the Group is 
required to measure the fair value of the 
purchase consideration and measure the fair 
value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired at the 
acquisition date and assess the existence of 
any goodwill. 

 

The acquisition of the WWS is key audit 
matter because it was a significant 
transaction for the year given the financial 
and operational impacts on the Group. In 
addition, the Group made significant and 
complex judgments when accounting for the 
acquisition 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 
Understanding and evaluating the design and 
implementation of relevant controls 
associated with the acquisition of WWS.  

 

Understanding and evaluating the key terms 
and conditions associated within the Share 
Sale Agreement for acquisition of WWS. 

 

Critically evaluating and challenging the 
accounting treatment of the Group in 
compliance with the requirements of AASB 3 
and recognition of the acquisition of WWS as 
a business combination.  

 

Reviewing if the acquisition date has been 
determined correctly, and if in line with  
AASB 3.  

 

Critically evaluating the Group’s 
determination of the fair value of the assets 
and liabilities acquired in the acquisition of 
WWS, and resulting goodwill recognised. 

 

Assessing the independence, competence 
and experience of the external valuation 
experts contracted by the Group to determine 
if we can place reliance on their valuation of 
plant and equipment acquired. 

 

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculations performed for the acquisition 
accounting of WWS. 

 

Assessing the Group’s accounting policy and 
disclosures within the financial report. 
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Acquisition of CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd 

Refer to Note 2(aa) and 26 of the Financial 
Report 

 

On 13 September 2024 the Company 
entered into a binding Share Sale Agreement 
for the acquisition of 100% of the issued 
capital of CMP Consulting Group Pty Ltd 
(“CMP”).  

 

Under the terms of the acquisition, the 
Company acquired 100% of the issued 
shares in CMP for an upfront consideration 
of $24,000,000 cash and 10,000,000 
Company shares, adjusted for post working 
capital and net debt adjustments (“CMP 
Transaction”).  

 

Further, deferred consideration of up to 
30,000,000 Company shares over three 
years subject to the achievement of EBITDA 
performance metrics.  

 

In undertaking the provisional business 
combination accounting, the Group is 
required to measure the fair value of the 
purchase consideration and measure the fair 
value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired at the 
acquisition date and assess the existence of 
any goodwill. 

 

The acquisition of the CMP is key audit 
matter because it was a significant 
transaction for the year given the financial 
and operational impacts on the Group. In 
addition, the Group made significant and 
complex judgments when accounting for the 
acquisition 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 
Understanding and evaluating the design and 
implementation of relevant controls 
associated with the acquisition of CMP.  

 

Understanding and evaluating the key terms 
and conditions associated within the Share 
Sale Agreement for acquisition of CMP. 

 

Critically evaluating and challenging the 
accounting treatment of the Group in 
compliance with the requirements of AASB 3 
and recognition of the acquisition of CMP as 
a business combination.  

 

Reviewing if the acquisition date has been 
determined correctly, and if in line with  
AASB 3.  

 

Assessing the complex judgements used in 
the Group’s calculation for the consideration 
transferred via the issue of shares and 
options to ensure it is consistent with the 
requirements of AASB 2 Share-Based 
Payments. 

 

Critically evaluating the Group’s 
determination of the fair value of the assets 
and liabilities acquired in the acquisition of 
CMP, and resulting goodwill recognised. 

 

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculations performed for the acquisition 
accounting of CMP. 

 

Assessing the Group’s accounting policy and 
disclosures within the financial report. 
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TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 
 

 
 
 
Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of:  

a) the financial report  (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001; and  

b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001; and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 
(i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a 

true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
and 

(ii) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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VYSARN LIMITED 
ABN 41 124 212 175 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
VYSARN LIMITED  

 

 
 
 

 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report  
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 21 of the directors’ report for 
the year ended 30 June 2025. In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Vysarn Limited, for the 
year ended 30 June 2025, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
 
Responsibilities  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 
 
 
 
PITCHER PARTNERS BA&A PTY LTD 
 
 
 
 
 
MICHAEL LIPRINO    
Executive Director 
Perth,  August 2025 
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